
 

 

Planning and Highways 
Committee 
 
Tuesday 7 September 2021 at 2.00 pm 

 
To be held at the Town Hall, Pinstone 
Street, Sheffield, S1 2HH 

 
The Press and Public are Welcome to Attend 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Membership 
  

Councillors Dianne Hurst (Chair),Tony Damms, Roger Davison, Peter Garbutt, 
Brian Holmshaw, Bob McCann, Zahira Naz, Peter Price, Chris Rosling-Josephs, 
Andrew Sangar, Garry Weatherall, Richard Williams and Alan Woodcock 
 
Substitute Members 
 
In accordance with the Constitution, Substitute Members may be provided for the 
above Committee Members as and when required. 
 
 

  

 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 

PUBLIC ACCESS TO THE MEETING 

 
The Planning and Highways Committee is responsible for planning applications, 
Tree Preservation Orders, enforcement action and some highway, footpath, road 
safety and traffic management issues.  
 
A copy of the agenda and reports is available on the Council’s website at 
www.sheffield.gov.uk.  You may not be allowed to see some reports because they 
contain confidential information.  These items are usually marked * on the agenda.  
 
Recording is allowed at Planning and Highways Committee meetings under the 
direction of the Chair of the meeting.  Please see the website or contact Democratic 
Services for details of the Council’s protocol on audio/visual recording and 
photography at council meetings. 
 
Planning and Highways Committee meetings are normally open to the public but 
sometimes the Committee may have to discuss an item in private.  If this happens, 
you will be asked to leave.  Any private items are normally left until last. 
 
Further information on this or any of the agenda items can be obtained by speaking 
to Abby Brownsword on telephone no. 0114 273 5033 or by emailing 
abby.brownsword@sheffield.gov.uk. 
 
 

FACILITIES 

 
There are public toilets available, with wheelchair access, on the ground floor of the 
Town Hall.  Induction loop facilities are available in meeting rooms. 
 
Access for people with mobility difficulties can be obtained through the ramp on the 
side to the main Town Hall entrance. 
 

 

http://www.sheffield.gov.uk/


 

 

 

PLANNING AND HIGHWAYS COMMITTEE AGENDA 
7 SEPTEMBER 2021 

 
Order of Business 

 
1.   Welcome and Housekeeping Arrangements  
 
2.   Apologies for Absence  
 
3.   Exclusion of Public and Press  
 To identify items where resolutions may be moved to exclude the 

press and public 
 

4.   Declarations of Interest (Pages 5 - 8) 
 Members to declare any interests they have in the business to be 

considered at the meeting 
 

5.   Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 9 - 14) 
 Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 17th August 

2021. 
 

6.   Site Visit  
 To agree a date for any site visits required in connection with 

planning applications prior to the next meeting of the Committee 
 

7.   Applications Under Various Acts/Regulations (Pages 15 - 16) 
 Report of the Director of City Growth 

 
7a.  Application No. 21/00234/FUL - Land At Junction With 

Herries Road, Herries Road, South And Penistone Road 
North, Sheffield, S6 1QE 
 

(Pages 17 - 66) 

7b.  Application No. 21/00418/FUL - Very Much So Productions, 8 
Stretton Road, Sheffield, S11 8UQ 
 

(Pages 67 - 80) 

7c.  Application No. 21/02304/FUL - 56 Huntingdon Crescent, 
Sheffield, S11 8AX 
 

(Pages 81 - 86) 

8.   Record of Planning Appeal Submissions and Decisions (Pages 87 - 92) 
 Report of the Director of City Growth 

 
9.   Date of Next Meeting  
 The next meeting of the Committee will be held on Tuesday 28th 

September 2021 in the Town Hall. 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

ADVICE TO MEMBERS ON DECLARING INTERESTS AT MEETINGS 

 
If you are present at a meeting of the Council, of its executive or any committee of 
the executive, or of any committee, sub-committee, joint committee, or joint sub-
committee of the authority, and you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) 
relating to any business that will be considered at the meeting, you must not:  
 

 participate in any discussion of the business at the meeting, or if you become 
aware of your Disclosable Pecuniary Interest during the meeting, participate 
further in any discussion of the business, or  

 participate in any vote or further vote taken on the matter at the meeting.  

These prohibitions apply to any form of participation, including speaking as a 
member of the public. 

You must: 
 

 leave the room (in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct) 

 make a verbal declaration of the existence and nature of any DPI at any 
meeting at which you are present at which an item of business which affects or 
relates to the subject matter of that interest is under consideration, at or before 
the consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest becomes 
apparent. 

 declare it to the meeting and notify the Council’s Monitoring Officer within 28 
days, if the DPI is not already registered. 

 
If you have any of the following pecuniary interests, they are your disclosable 
pecuniary interests under the new national rules. You have a pecuniary interest if 
you, or your spouse or civil partner, have a pecuniary interest.  
 

 Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain, 
which you, or your spouse or civil partner undertakes. 
 

 Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from your 
council or authority) made or provided within the relevant period* in respect of 
any expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards 
your election expenses. This includes any payment or financial benefit from a 
trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992.  
 
*The relevant period is the 12 months ending on the day when you tell the 
Monitoring Officer about your disclosable pecuniary interests. 

 

 Any contract which is made between you, or your spouse or your civil partner (or 
a body in which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, has a beneficial 
interest) and your council or authority –  
 
- under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 

executed; and  
- which has not been fully discharged. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 2 

 

 Any beneficial interest in land which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, 
have and which is within the area of your council or authority. 

 

 Any licence (alone or jointly with others) which you, or your spouse or your civil 
partner, holds to occupy land in the area of your council or authority for a month 
or longer. 
 

 Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) – 

- the landlord is your council or authority; and  
- the tenant is a body in which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, has a 

beneficial interest. 
 

 Any beneficial interest which you, or your spouse or your civil partner has in 
securities of a body where -  

 

(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of 
your council or authority; and  
 

(b) either - 
- the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 

hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or  
- if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 

value of the shares of any one class in which you, or your spouse or your 
civil partner, has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class. 

If you attend a meeting at which any item of business is to be considered and you 
are aware that you have a personal interest in the matter which does not amount to 
a DPI, you must make verbal declaration of the existence and nature of that interest 
at or before the consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest 
becomes apparent. You should leave the room if your continued presence is 
incompatible with the 7 Principles of Public Life (selflessness; integrity; objectivity; 
accountability; openness; honesty; and leadership).  

You have a personal interest where – 

 a decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting 
the well-being or financial standing (including interests in land and easements 
over land) of you or a member of your family or a person or an organisation with 
whom you have a close association to a greater extent than it would affect the 
majority of the Council Tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the ward or 
electoral area for which you have been elected or otherwise of the Authority’s 
administrative area, or 
 

 it relates to or is likely to affect any of the interests that are defined as DPIs but 
are in respect of a member of your family (other than a partner) or a person with 
whom you have a close association. 

 

Page 6



 3 

Guidance on declarations of interest, incorporating regulations published by the 
Government in relation to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, has been circulated to 
you previously. 
 
You should identify any potential interest you may have relating to business to be 
considered at the meeting. This will help you and anyone that you ask for advice to 
fully consider all the circumstances before deciding what action you should take. 
 
In certain circumstances the Council may grant a dispensation to permit a Member 
to take part in the business of the Authority even if the member has a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest relating to that business.  

To obtain a dispensation, you must write to the Monitoring Officer at least 48 hours 
before the meeting in question, explaining why a dispensation is sought and 
desirable, and specifying the period of time for which it is sought.  The Monitoring 
Officer may consult with the Independent Person or the Council’s Audit and 
Standards Committee in relation to a request for dispensation. 

Further advice can be obtained from Gillian Duckworth, Director of Legal and 
Governance on 0114 2734018 or email gillian.duckworth@sheffield.gov.uk. 
 
 

Page 7

mailto:gillian.duckworth@sheffield.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



S H E F F I E L D    C I T Y     C O U N C I L 
 

Planning and Highways Committee 
 

Meeting held 17 August 2021 
 
 
PRESENT: Councillors Peter Price (Chair), Tony Damms, Roger Davison, 

Peter Garbutt, Brian Holmshaw, Dianne Hurst, Bob McCann, 
Zahira Naz, Chris Rosling-Josephs, Andrew Sangar, Garry Weatherall, 
Richard Williams and Alan Woodcock 
 

 
   

 
1.   
 

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

1.1 No apologies for absence were received. 
 

 
 
2.   
 

EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS 
 

2.1 No items were identified where resolutions may be moved to exclude the public 
and press. 

 

 
 
3.   
 

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

3.1 There were no declarations of interest. 
 

 
 
4.   
 

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 

4.1 The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 27th July 2021, were 
approved as a correct record. 

 
 
5.   
 

SITE VISIT 
 

5.1 Councillor Peter Garbutt raised the issue as to why visits had not been arranged to 
the other sites to be considered at this meeting.  Cllr Andrew Sangar added that, in 
the past, visits to most of those sites which were considered contentious were 
arranged. 

  
5.2 The Chair (Councillor Dianne Hurst) stated that Members could either visit any site 

independently, or contact the Co-Chairs of the Committee, and request that visits 
be made to specific sites.  

  
5.3 RESOLVED: That (a) the comments now made and response provided with 

regard to site visits be noted; and 
  

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



Meeting of the Planning and Highways Committee 17.08.2021 

Page 2 of 5 
 

 (b) the Chief Planning Officer, in liaison with a Co-Chair, be authorised to make 
any arrangements for a site visit, in connection with any planning applications 
requiring a visit by members, prior to the next meeting of the Committee.  

 
 
6.   
 

COUNCIL'S FIVE-YEAR HOUSING LAND SUPPLY 
 

6.1 The officer presented an urgent item to provide clarification to Members on the 
Council’s Five-Year Housing Land Supply position following the receipt of two 
materially important appeal decisions since the agenda was published. The officer 
clarified that the latest assessment was that there was a four-year supply of 
deliverable housing sites in Sheffield for the period 1st April, 2021 to 31st March, 
2026.  The assessment followed the Government Practice Guidance, and was 
based on available evidence on construction programmes and development 
constraints, as well as reflecting the number of sites currently available for 
development.  The officer pointed out that because there is not now a full five-year 
supply, the most important Local Plan policies for determining any relevant 
applications for housing were automatically ‘out of date’ and the ‘presumption in 
favour of sustainable development’ applied (referred to as the ‘tilted balance’).  In 
that situation, Members were advised that planning permission should only be 
refused for applications involving housing if the adverse effects of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) as a whole. This applied with 
immediate effect and the full details would shortly be published. 

  
6.2 Members noted this information. 
  
 

 
7.   
 

APPLICATIONS UNDER VARIOUS ACTS/REGULATIONS 
 

7a APPLICATION NO. 21/01999/REM – SITE OF CAR PARKS AT SHALESMOOR, 
BRIDGE STREET AND PLUM LANE, S3 

  
7a.1 6a.1 Responses to two further representations and a report on the Council’s revised 

Five-Year Housing Land Supply Monitoring Report, which had just been released, 
were included in the supplementary report circulated and summarised at the 
meeting. 

  
7a.2 The officer presented the report which gave details of the application and 

highlighted the history of the site and the key issues in addition to presenting 
photographs of the site which were presented to Members in advance of the 
meeting. 

  
7a.3 Jon Suckley attended the meeting and spoke in support of the application. 
  
7a.4 The Committee considered the report and recommended conditions having regard 

to the development plan, the National Planning Policy Framework and other 
relevant considerations as summarised in the report and supplementary report, now 
submitted. 

Page 10



Meeting of the Planning and Highways Committee 17.08.2021 

Page 3 of 5 
 

  
7a.5 RESOLVED: That an application for the approval of reserved matters be 

GRANTED, conditionally for the reasons set out in the report and supplementary 
report, now submitted, for the erection of mixed use development comprising two 
buildings up to 19 storeys with apartments at upper levels (Use Class C3) and 
ground floor retail units (Use Classes A1-A4) (Application to approve access, 
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale as reserved under planning permission 
no. 16/02518/OUT) on the site of the car park at Shalesmoor, Bridge Street and 
Plum Lane (Buildings 1A and 1B), Sheffield 3. 

  
7b APPLICATION NO. 21/01988/REM – LAND AT CORPORATION STREET, 

SPRING STREET, WATER STREET, PLUM STREET AND LOVE STREET S3 
8NS  

  
7b.1 An additional representation, along with the officer response, were included within 

the supplementary report circulated and summarised at the meeting. 
  
7b.2 The officer presented the report which gave details of the application and 

highlighted the history of the site and the key issues in addition to presenting 
photographs of the site which were presented to Members in advance of the 
meeting. 

  
7b.3 Jon Suckley attended the meeting and spoke in support of the application. 
  
7b.4 The Committee considered the report and recommended conditions having regard 

to the development plan, the National Planning Policy Framework and other 
relevant considerations as summarised in the report and supplementary report, now 
submitted. 

  
7b.5 RESOLVED: That an application for the approval of reserved matters be 

GRANTED, conditionally for the reasons set out in the report and supplementary 
report, now submitted, proposing details for the access, appearance, scale, layout, 
landscaping and access for an office building (Use Class B1a) with ground floor 
retail units (Use Classes A1-A4) (Application to approve access, appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale as reserved under planning permission no. 
16/02518/OUT) on land at Corporation Street, Spring Street, Water Street, Plum 
Street and Love Street, Sheffield S3 8NS. 

  
7c APPLICATION NO. 21/01102/FUL – BRITISH RAIL SPORTS CLUB, FARM 

ROAD, S2 2TP 
  
7c.1 Amendments to the report, including a revised affordable housing contribution of 

£565,000 and a report on the Council’s Five-Year Housing Land Supply Monitoring 
Report, which had just been released, were included within the supplementary 
report circulated and summarised at the meeting. 

  
7c.2 The officer presented the report which gave details of the application and 

highlighted the history of the site and the key issues in addition to presenting 
photographs of the site which were presented to Members in advance of the 
meeting. 

Page 11



Meeting of the Planning and Highways Committee 17.08.2021 

Page 4 of 5 
 

  
7c.3 Tom Breislin attended the meeting and spoke in support of the application. 
  
7c.4 The Committee considered the report and recommended conditions having regard 

to the development plan, the National Planning Policy Framework and other 
relevant considerations as summarised in the report and supplementary report, now 
submitted. 

  
7c.5 RESOLVED: That an application for planning permission be GRANTED, 

conditionally, subject to the completion of a legal agreement for the reasons set out 
in the report and supplementary report, now submitted, for the erection of 336 
apartments in a 10-23-storey building, including the provision of communal 
indoor/outdoor amenity space, car parking spaces, cycle spaces and landscaping 
works at British Rail Sports Club, Farm Road, Sheffield S2 2TP (Application No. 
21/01102/FUL). 

  
7d APPLICATION NO. 21/00366/FUL) – 15A BROOMFIELD RAOD, 

STOCKSBRIDGE, SHEFFIELD, S36 2AR 
  
7d.1 An additional condition was included within the supplementary report circulated and 

summarised at the meeting. 
  
7d.2 The officer presented the report which gave details of the application and 

highlighted the history of the site and the key issues in addition to presenting 
photographs of the site which were presented to Members in advance of the 
meeting. 

  
7d.3 Katy Traill and Abbey Hayes attended the meeting, and spoke against and in 

support of the application, respectively. 
  
7d.4 The Committee considered the report and recommended conditions having regard 

to the development plan, the National Planning Policy Framework and other 
relevant considerations as summarised in the report and supplementary report, now 
submitted. 

  
7d.5 RESOLVED: That an application for planning permission be GRANTED, 

conditionally for the reasons set out in the report and supplementary report, now 
submitted, and subject to (1) a directive advising the applicant to contact the third 
party owners of the access road in order to seek improvements to the road surface 
and (2) an amendment to Condition 13, to ensure that the proposed boundary 
treatment incorporates hedgerow planting with both screening and ecological 
benefits alongside the acoustic fence, for the erection of a nursery (Use Class E) 
with associated parking at 15A Broomfield Road, Stocksbridge, Sheffield, S36 2AR 
(Application No. 21/00366/FUL). 

 

 
 
8.   
 

RECORD OF PLANNING APPEAL SUBMISSIONS AND DECISIONS 
 

8.1 The Committee received and noted a report of the Chief Planning Officer detailing 

Page 12



Meeting of the Planning and Highways Committee 17.08.2021 

Page 5 of 5 
 

new planning appeals received and planning appeals allowed or dismissed by the 
Secretary of State. 

 
 
9.   
 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 

9.1 It was noted that the next meeting of the Planning and Highways Committee would 
be held on Tuesday 7th September 2021, at 2.00 pm. 

  
  
 (NOTE:  In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 26 of the Council’s 

Constitution and the provisions of Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local Government 
(Access to Information) Act 1985, the Chair decided that Item 6 – Council’s Five-
Year Housing Land Supply, be considered as a matter of urgency in order for the 
issue to be considered at the earliest possible opportunity, although it had not 
been possible to give five clear days’ notice that the request was to be 
considered). 

 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



 

 
 
 
 

  
Report of:   Director of City Growth Department 
__________________________________________________________________ 
 
Date:    07/09/2021 
__________________________________________________________________ 
 
Subject:   Applications under various acts/regulations 
__________________________________________________________________ 
 
Author of Report:  Dinah Hope/Chris Heeley 2039183 
__________________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary:  
 
 
__________________________________________________________________ 
Reasons for Recommendations   
(Reports should include a statement of the reasons for the decisions proposed) 
 
 
 
Recommendations: 
 
__________________________________________________________________ 
 
Background Papers: 
Under the heading “Representations” a Brief Summary of Representations 
received up to a week before the Committee date is given (later representations 
will be reported verbally).  The main points only are given for ease of reference.  
The full letters are on the application file, which is available to members and the 
public and will be at the meeting. 
 
 
Category of Report: OPEN 
 
 
 
 

SHEFFIELD CITY COUNCIL 
Planning and Highways Committee 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



 

 
Case Number 

 
21/00234/FUL (Formerly PP-09354434) 
 

Application Type Full Planning Application 
 

Proposal Erection of a retail unit (Class E(a)), gym (Class E(d)), 
2 storage and distribution units (Class B8), 1 storage 
and distribution unit with outside storage and racking 
(Class B8), 2 drive thru restaurants (Class E(b/Sui 
Generis)),1 builders merchant (Sui Generis) to include 
display, sale and storage of building timber and 
plumbing supplies, plant and tool hire, including outside 
display and storage along with storage racking, 
ancillary kitchen joinery showroom, 1 vehicle 
maintenance, repair and MOT unit (Class B2) and 2 
substations including provision of car parking and 
junction improvements to Penistone Road and Herries 
Road, access onto Herries Road/Herries Road South, 
servicing, landscaping, pedestrian access and 
associated on and off site works (resubmission of 
application 19/00037/FUL) (Amended Description) 
 

Location Land At Junction With Herries Road, Herries Road 
South And Penistone Road North 
Sheffield 
S6 1QE 
 

Date Received 19/01/2021 
 

Team West and North 
 

Applicant/Agent DLP Planning Ltd 
 

Recommendation Grant Conditionally 
 

 
  
Time limit for Commencement of Development 
 
 1. The development shall be begun not later than the expiration of three years 

from the date of this decision. 
  
 Reason:  In order to comply with the requirements of the Town and Country 

Planning Act. 
 
Approved/Refused Plan(s) 
 
 2. The development must be carried out in complete accordance with the 

following approved documents: 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7a



 

  
  
  
 13622-P1-098_Site Location Plan 
 13622-P1-100F Proposed Site Plan 
 13622-P1-101B Proposed Site Sections 
 13622-P1-102A Proposed Demolition Plan 
 13622-P1-103A Proposed Retail Terrace GA Plan 
 13622-P1-104A Proposed Retail Terrace Mezzanine Plan 
 13622-P1-105A Proposed Retail Terrace Roof Plan 
 13622-P1-106A Proposed Retail Terrace Elevations 
 13622-P1-107A Proposed Unit 3 GA Plans and Elevations 
 13622-P1-108A Proposed Unit 4 
 13622-P1-109C Proposed Unit 05 GA Plan 
 13622-P1-110C Proposed Unit 05 Elevations 
 13622-P1-111A Proposed Unit 06 GA Plan 
 13622-P1-112A Proposed Unit 06 Elevations 
 13622-P1-113C Proposed Unit 07 
 3622-P1-114A Proposed Unit 08-09 GA Plans 
 13622-P1-115A Proposed Unit 08-09 Elevations  
 13622-P1-116B Boundary Treatment Plan  
 13622-P1-117B Boundary Treatment and Fencing Details  
 13622-P1-118B Streetscene Elevations  
 13622-P1-119B_Proposed Street Sections 
 13622-P1-120B Proposed Detail Sections  
 13622-P1-121A_Proposed Green Wall Details  
 13622-P1-122A Proposed Unit 09 Bin Store Details  
 13622-P1-123 Proposed Substations  
 13622-[P1]-125 Proposed Site Plan EV Layout 
 V13622 _L01J - Landscape Masterplan_A1  
 V13622_L02J - Landscape Plan 1 of 2_A0  
 V13622_L03J - Landscape Plan 2 of 2_A0  
 200204-0000-001- General Arrangement Penistone Road (Rev E)  
 200204-0000-002- General Arrangement - Rev B  
 200204-0000-003- General Arrangement Herries Road North Junction - Rev 

B  
 200204-0000-004- General Arrangement Herries Road South Junction - Rev 

B  
 SCP_18445_F15 Rev F - Required Land Outside of the Boundary Line 
 SCP_18445_F18 - Cycle Priority Crossing 
 13622-[P1]-126 - Proposed Cycle hoop locations 
  
 Reason:  In order to define the permission. 
 
Pre Commencement Condition(s) – (‘true conditions precedent’ – see notes 
for definition) 
 
 3. Prior to the construction of any phase of the development commencing, a 

detailed Inclusive Employment and Development Plan for that phase, 
designed to maximise opportunities for employment and training from the 

Page 18



 

construction phase of the development, shall have been developed 
collaboratively with Talent Sheffield and submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Plan shall include a detailed 
Implementation Schedule, with provision to review and report back on 
progress achieved, via Talent Sheffield, to the Local Planning Authority. 
Thereafter the Plan shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of maximising the economic and social benefits for 

Sheffield from the construction of the development 
 
 4. No development shall commence until details of measures to facilitate the 

provision of gigabit-capable full fibre broadband within the development, 
including a timescale for implementation, have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details/timetable thereafter. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that all new Major developments provide connectivity to 

the fastest technically available Broadband network in line with Paragraph 
114 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 5. No development shall commence unless the measures to protect the trees, 

shrubs, and hedges (within and adjoining the site boundary) to be retained 
are provided in accordance with Tree Protection Plan Dwg No: PRN06 rev 
A. Protection of trees shall be in accordance with BS 5837, 2012 (or its 
replacement) and the protected areas shall not be disturbed, compacted or 
used for any type of storage or fire, nor shall the retained trees, shrubs or 
hedge be damaged in any way. The protection measures shall not be 
removed until the completion of the development. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of protecting the identified trees on site. It is 

essential that this condition is complied with before any other works on site 
commence given that damage to trees is irreversible. 

 
 6. No development shall commence until full details of the proposed surface 

water drainage design, including calculations and appropriate model results, 
have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. This 
shall include the arrangements and details for surface water infrastructure 
management for the life time of the development. The scheme shall detail 
phasing of the development and phasing of drainage provision, where 
appropriate. The scheme should be achieved by sustainable drainage 
methods whereby the management of water quantity and quality are 
provided. Should the design not include sustainable methods evidence must 
be provided to show why these methods are not feasible for this site.  The 
surface water drainage scheme and its management shall be implemented 
in accordance with the approved details.  No part of a phase shall be 
brought into use until the drainage works approved for that part have been 
completed. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of sustainable development and given that drainage 

Page 19



 

works are one of the first elements of site infrastructure that must be 
installed it is essential that this condition is complied with before the 
development commences in order to ensure that the proposed drainage 
system will be fit for purpose. 

 
 7. No development shall commence until detailed proposals for surface water 

disposal, including calculations to demonstrate a 30% reduction compared 
to the existing peak flow based on a 1 in 1 year rainfall event have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This 
will require the existing discharge arrangements, which are to be utilised, to 
be proven and alternative more favourable discharge routes, according to 
the hierarchy, to be discounted. Otherwise greenfield rates (QBar) will apply. 

  
 An additional allowance shall be included for climate change effects for the 

lifetime of the development. Storage shall be provided for the minimum 30 
year return period storm with the 100 year return period storm plus climate 
change retained within the site boundary. The development shall thereafter 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason:  In the interests of sustainable development and given that 

drainage works are one of the first elements of site infrastructure that must 
be installed it is essential that this condition is complied with before the 
development commences in order to ensure that the proposed drainage 
system will be fit for purpose. 

 
 8. No demolition and/or construction works shall be carried out unless the 

equipment approved as part of this application 'Wheel Wash Facilities 
Specification' (scanned 19th January 2021) for the effective cleaning of the 
wheels and bodies of vehicles leaving the site so as to prevent the 
depositing of mud and waste on the highway is provided. 

  
 Reason:  In the interests of protecting the free and safe flow of traffic on the 

public highway, it is essential that this condition is complied with before any 
works on site commence. 

 
 9. Immediately (No later than 1 month) prior to the commencement of the 

development, which includes site clearance or preparatory works, a repeat 
badger survey shall have been undertaken in accordance with the 
recommendations of Weddle Landscape Design Ecological Addendum 
dated December 2020, and submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  

  
 Should evidence of badger activity be detected during the survey, no 

development shall commence until best practice measures to protect setts 
and associated habitat have been agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority and any required Natural England licenses or permits have been 
secured. The development shall only then proceed in accordance with the 
approved details. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of biodiversity and to mitigate the affects of the 

Page 20



 

development on protected species. 
 
10. No development shall commence until the improvements (which expression 

shall include traffic control and cycle safety measures) to the highways listed 
below have either: 

 a) been carried out; or 
 b) details have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority of arrangements which have been entered into which will 
secure that such improvement works will be carried out before the 
development is brought into use. 

 Highway Improvements: 
 (i) Alterations to site access arrangements for vehicles and pedestrians 

broadly in accordance with submitted drawing numbers SCP/18445/F and 
SCP_18445_F18 (which will be subject to further detailed design), including 
the provision of pedestrian drop crossings and tactile paving to facilitate 
unhindered wheelchair mobility and (subject to a stage 2 road safety audit), 
will promote/prioritise cycle movements along the off-road cycle tracks. 

 (ii) Promotion (as necessary) of a Traffic Regulation Order (loading/waiting 
restrictions in the vicinity of the development site) and provision of 
associated road markings and signage, all subject to the usual formal 
procedures; 

 (iii) Provision (where possible) of a clear 4 metres wide shared 
footway/cycleway along the Penistone Road frontage (and associated 
signage/markings) all resurfaced; 

 (iv) Highway landscaping to the rear of the shared footway/cycleway along 
the Penistone Road frontage between Herries Road and Herries Road 
South (with a license for the developer to undertake maintenance); 

 (v) Accommodation works to street furniture and Statutory Undertakers 
equipment, including street lighting columns, moving them to the new rear of 
shared footway/cycleway; 

 (vi) Bus shelter upgrade/replacement to South Yorkshire Passenger 
Transport Executive specification on the Penistone Road frontage with kerb 
upstand and tactile paving to assist boarding/alighting 

 (vii) Retail Park direction signage on the local highway network. 
  
 Reason: To enable the above-mentioned highways to accommodate the 

increase in traffic, which, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, will 
be generated by the development, and in the interests of protecting the free 
and safe flow of traffic on the public highway it is essential that this condition 
is complied with before any works on site commence. 

 
11. Prior to the improvement works indicated in the preceding condition being 

carried out, full details of these improvement works shall have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the amenities of the locality. 
 
Other Pre-Commencement, Pre-Occupancy and other Stage of Development 
Condition(s) 
 

Page 21



 

12. The approved landscape works shall be implemented prior to the 
development being brought into use or within an alternative timescale to be 
first approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the 
landscaped areas shall be retained and they shall be cultivated and 
maintained for a period of 5 years from the date of implementation and any 
plant failures within that 5 year period shall be replaced. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality it is essential 

for these works to have been carried out before the use commences. 
 
13. Prior to foundation works commencing on units 2, 3, 8 or 9 full details of the 

plant sward and a schedule for the long term maintenance of the green 
walls, shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  Thereafter the green walls shall be provided  in the 
locations shown on the approved plans and in accordance with the 
approved planting and maintenance arrangements. The plants shall be 
maintained for a period of 5 years from the date of implementation and any 
failures within that period shall be replaced. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of biodiversity and the visual amenities of the area. 
 
14. Before any above ground works commence, or within an alternative 

timeframe to be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, full details 
of proposals for the inclusion of public art within the development shall have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Such details shall then be implemented prior to the occupation of the 
development. 

  
 Reason:  In order to satisfy the requirements of Policy BE12 of the Unitary 

Development Plan and to ensure that the quality of the built environment is 
enhanced. 

 
15. The ingress and egress of vehicles engaged in the construction of the 

development is restricted to the access arrangements shown on Figure 1 -  
'Site Accommodation and Logistics plan' contained in the approved 
Eastwoods and Partners Construction and Environmental Management Plan 
(CEMP) ref: AP/JEST/37384/022 rev C dated 10th August 2021. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the amenities of the locality. 
 
16. Within 3 months of the commencement of development , the applicant shall 

submit for written approval by the Local Planning Authority a report giving 
details of the impact of light from the development on adjacent dwellings and 
the retained woodland. The report shall demonstrate that the lighting 
scheme is designed in accordance with The Institution of Lighting 
Professionals documents GN01: 2011 'Guidance Notes for the Reduction of 
Obtrusive Light', and PLG05: 2014 'The Brightness of Illuminated 
Advertisements'. The development shall be carried out and thereafter 
retained in accordance with the approved details. 

  

Page 22



 

 Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the locality and occupiers of 
adjoining property and ecology of the adjoining woodlands. 

 
17. Details of all proposed external materials and finishes, including samples 

when requested by the Local Planning Authority, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before that part of the 
development is commenced. Thereafter, the development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason: In order to ensure an appropriate quality of development. 
 
18. The submitted Travel Plan (SCP Framework Travel Plan dated May 2020) is 

approved and must be operated for the lifetime of the development. Any 
subsequent changes/modifications to the Travel Plan suggested by the 
developer or future occupants must have been first submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to implementation. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of delivering sustainable forms of transport, in 

accordance with the Unitary Development Plan for Sheffield and Core 
Strategy. 

 
19. Cycle parking shall be provided in the locations shown on plan ref: 13622-

[P1]-126 - proposed cycle hoop locations. Prior to the occupation of the 
development full details of the cycle shelters plus storage/changing/shower 
facilities for staff within the buildings hereby approved shall have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
cycle parking, shelters and storage/changing facilities shall be provided in 
accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of the 
development and thereafter retained. 

   
 Reason: In the interests of delivering sustainable forms of transport, in 

accordance with the Unitary Development Plan for Sheffield, Core Strategy 
Policies and the NPPF. 

 
20. Prior to above ground works commencing, arrangements shall have been 

entered into which enable the dedication of land required to accommodate 
capacity improvements at the junction of Herries Road South with the A61 
(together with cycling infrastructure improvements) to the City Council from 
the land owner at no cost to the City Council, to occur if/when the highway 
improvement scheme is commenced. The land is identified in submitted 
drawing number SCP_18445_F15 Rev F. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of the future development of the area. 
 
21. Prior to occupation, all vehicle and pedestrian areas within the site shall 

have been surfaced, sealed and drained in accordance with details that shall 
first have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  

  
 Reason:  To ensure satisfactory parking provision in the interests of traffic 

Page 23



 

safety and the amenities of the locality. 
 
22. Before the development is brought into use, the car parking accommodation, 

the electric vehicle charging points and associated passive and active 
parking spaces, the internal vehicular circulation and  pedestrian routes and 
the service yards shall all have been provided in accordance with the 
submitted plans, along with internal direction signage advising motorists of 
the correct turning manoeuvres upon re-joining the public highway. The 
approved works shall thereafter be retained/maintained for the sole purpose 
intended. 

  
 Reason:  To ensure satisfactory parking provision and highway 

improvements in the interests of traffic safety and the amenities of the 
locality. 

 
23. The development shall not be used unless details have been submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, showing how 
surface water will be prevented from spilling onto the public highway. Once 
agreed, the measures shall be put into place prior to the use of the 
development commencing and shall thereafter be retained. 

  
 Reason:  In the interests of highway safety and the amenities of the locality 

it is essential for these works to have been carried out before the use 
commences. 

 
24. The development shall not be used unless all redundant accesses have 

been permanently stopped up and reinstated to kerb and footway, and any 
associated changes to adjacent waiting restrictions that are considered 
necessary by the Local Highway Authority including any Traffic Regulation 
Orders are implemented. The means of vehicular access shall be restricted 
solely to those access points indicated in the approved plans. 

  
 Reason:  In the interests of highway safety and the amenities of the locality 

it is essential for these works to have been carried out before the use 
commences. 

 
25. Specifications of the electrical car charging points along with a 

schedule/timeframe for their installation and the provision of the active and 
passive electric vehicle parking spaces shown on drawing ref:13622-[P1]-
125 shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority within 3 months of the commencement of development. 

  
 The approved charging points and active and passive vehicle parking 

spaces shall then be provided in accordance with the approved details, and 
thereafter maintained and retained for the lifetime of the development. 

  
 Reason: To mitigate the effects of climate change. 
 
26. Before any above ground works commence, or an alternative timeframe to 

be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, full details of the 

Page 24



 

proposed public recycling facilities, which shall include the following 
elements: 

  
 i) paper banks 
 ii) containers for glass bottle 
 iii) containers for plastic bottles and aluminium cans 
 iv) textile bank  
 v) details of signage within the site to such facilities 
  
 shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. These facilities shall be provided in accordance with the approved 
details before the relevant element of the development is brought into use 
and thereafter retained in accordance with the approved scheme. 

  
 Reason:  In the interests of sustainable development. 
 
27. No piped discharge of surface water from the application site shall take 

place until works to provide a satisfactory outfall, other than the existing 
local public sewerage, for surface water have been completed in 
accordance with details submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. Thereafter the development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that the site is properly drained and in order to prevent 

overloading, surface water is not discharged to the public sewer network. 
 
28. No building or other obstruction including landscape features shall be 

located over or within 6 (six) metres either side of the centre line of the 
public water main i.e. a protected strip width of 12 (twelve) metres, that 
crosses the site. Furthermore, no trees or other landscaping features are to 
be planted within the restricted strip. If the required stand-off distance is to 
be achieved via diversion/closure or an agreed alternative scheme of the 
water main, the developer shall submit evidence to the Local Planning 
Authority that the diversion/closure or relevant agreement has been agreed 
with the relevant statutory undertaker and that prior to construction in the 
affected area, the approved works have been undertaken. 

  
 Reason: In order to allow sufficient access for maintenance and repair work 

at all times. 
 
29. The measures  identified in the approved Energytest Energy Statement 

dated 6/1/2021 to reduce/provide the energy needs of the completed 
development from decentralised and renewable/low carbon energy sources 
shall have been installed/incorporated into the relevant buildings before 
those buildings are occupied.  

  
 Before each of the buildings is occupied, or an alternative timescale to be 

agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, a report shall have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to 
demonstrate that the agreed measures have been installed/incorporated 

Page 25



 

prior to occupation. 
  
 Thereafter the agreed equipment, connection or measures shall be retained 

in use and maintained for the lifetime of the development. 
  
 Reason: In order to ensure that new development makes energy savings in 

the interests of mitigating the effects of climate change and given that such 
works could be one of the first elements of site infrastructure that must be 
installed it is essential that this condition is complied with before the 
development commences. 

 
 
30. The development hereby approved shall be constructed to achieve a 

minimum rating of BREEAM 'very good' and before the development is 
occupied (or within an alternative timescale to be agreed) written 
confirmation from an Licensed BREEAM Assessor, demonstrating that 
BREEAM 'very good' has been achieved, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason:  In the interests of mitigating the effects of climate change, in 

accordance with Sheffield Development Framework Core Strategy Policy 
CS64 

 
31. Upon completion of any measures identified in the approved Remediation 

Strategy or any approved revised Remediation Strategy a Validation Report 
shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall 
not be brought into use until the Validation Report has been approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The Validation Report shall be 
prepared in accordance with Contaminated Land Report CLR11 
(Environment Agency 2004) and Sheffield City Council policies relating to 
validation of capping measures and validation of gas protection measures. 

  
 Reason:  In order to ensure that any contamination of the land is properly 

dealt with. 
 
32. The use of Units 04 and 07 (drive thru restaurants) shall not commence 

unless a scheme for the installation of equipment to control the emission of 
fumes and odours from the premises is submitted for written approval by the 
Local Planning Authority. These details shall include: 

  
 a) Drawings showing the location of the external flue ducting and 

termination, which should include a low resistance cowl. 
 b) Acoustic emissions data for the system. 
 c) Details of any filters or other odour abatement equipment. 
 d) Details of the systems required cleaning and maintenance schedule. 
  
 The use shall not commence until the approved equipment has been 

installed and is fully operational and shall thereafter be installed, operated, 
retained and maintained in accordance with the approved details. 

  

Page 26



 

 Reason:  In the interests of the amenities of the locality and occupiers of 
adjoining property it is essential for these works to have been carried out 
before the use commences. 

 
33. No externally mounted plant or equipment for heating, cooling or ventilation 

purposes, nor grilles, ducts, vents for similar internal equipment, shall be 
fitted to the building unless full details thereof, including acoustic emissions 
data, have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Once installed such plant or equipment shall not be 
altered. 

  
 Reason:  In the interests of the amenities of the locality and occupiers of 

adjoining property. 
 
34. No loudspeakers be fixed externally nor directed to broadcast sound 

outdoors at any time. Any external intercom units used for the purpose of 
communicating food orders, or otherwise, shall be operated in such a 
manner so as to remain inaudible at the nearest off-site noise sensitive 
receptor facade at all times. 

  
 Reason:  In the interests of the amenities of the locality and occupiers of 

adjoining property. 
 
35. Should the clearance of site vegetation, trees or buildings take place within 

the bird nesting season (March to August inclusive) a pre site clearance 
check shall be carried out by a suitably qualified ecologist to establish the 
presence of nesting birds. If active bird nests are present clearance works 
should only proceed once all chicks have fledged. 

     
 Reason: In order to ensure that nesting birds are not adversely affected by 

the development. 
 
36. Buildings 2, 3 and 7 identified in Steven Whitcher's Preliminary Bat Roost 

Assessment ref: SK 33526-90722 revision 2 dated 19th February 2021 shall 
not be demolished until the further bat surveys specified in section 5. 
'Recommendations' of the above report have been carried out, and the 
findings have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

  
 The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the 

recommendations of the further bat surveys. 
  
 Reason: In the interests of protected species. 
 
37. Within 3 months of the commencement of development full details of the 

ecological mitigation measures identified in Weddle Landscape Design 
Ecological Addendum dated December 2020 shall have been submitted to 
an approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority including: 

  
 1, Bird and bat boxes, with some integrated into buildings;  

Page 27



 

  
 2, Details of permeable site fencing to allow badgers and other small 

mammals to access the site;  
  
 3, Provision of 1no. ACO Wildlife Refuge and woodpile habitat; 
  
 The approved ecological mitigation measures shall have been carried 

out/installed prior to the first occupation of the development or within an 
alternative timescale to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of biodiversity 
 
38. The approved landscape works and the ecological mitigation measures 

required by conditions 12 and 37 shall be managed and maintained in 
accordance with Weddle Landscape and Design 'Landscape and Ecological 
Management and Maintenance Plan' (LEMP) dated May 2020. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of biodiversity and the long term management and 

maintenance of ecological and landscape features. 
 
Other Compliance Conditions 
 
39. Commercial deliveries to and collections from each of the units hereby 

permitted shall be carried out only between the hours of 0600 to 2300 on 
Mondays to Saturdays and between the hours of 0800 to 2200 on Sundays 
and Public Holidays. 

  
 Reason:  In the interests of the amenities of the locality and occupiers of 

adjoining property. 
 
40. No vehicular on-site movements of stock, goods, waste or other materials 

shall take place in the open air, and no use of audible alarms, or other 
warning systems shall take place at any of the units hereby permitted 
outside the hours of 0600 to 2300 on Mondays to Saturdays, or the hours of 
0800 to 2200 on Sundays and Public Holidays. 

  
 Reason:  In the interests of the amenities of the locality and occupiers of 

adjoining property. 
 
41. All vehicle servicing, maintenance and repair associated with the vehicle 

repair and maintenance unit (use class B2) shall be carried out within the 
building, as approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No repair or 
maintenance activities shall be carried out in the open air at any time. 

  
 Reason:  In the interests of the amenities of the locality and occupiers of 

adjoining property. 
 
42. Prior to being discharged into any watercourse, surface water sewer or 

soakaway system all surface water drainage from parking areas and 

Page 28



 

hardstandings shall be passed through a petrol/oil and grit 
interceptor/separator designed and constructed in accordance with details to 
be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason: Prevent pollution of the water environment. 
 
43. All site clearance, demolition, construction and other enabling engineering or 

prepatory works shall at all times be carried out in accordance with the 
recommendations of the approved Eastwoods and Partners Construction 
and Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) ref: AP/JEST/37384/022 rev 
C dated the 10th August (scanned 20th August 2021) in relation to noise, 
vibration, dust, air quality and pollution control measures.   

  
 Reason:  In the interests of the amenities of the locality and occupiers of 

adjoining property. 
 
44. All development and associated remediation shall proceed in accordance 

with the recommendations of the approved Remediation Strategy (Eastwood 
& Partners ref. 37834-019; 30/09/2020). In the event that remediation is 
unable to proceed in accordance with the approved Remediation Strategy, 
or unexpected contamination is encountered at any stage of the 
development process, works should cease and the Local Planning Authority 
and Environmental Protection Service (tel: 0114 273 4651) should be 
contacted immediately. Revisions to the Remediation Strategy shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Works 
shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved revised 
Remediation Strategy. 

  
 Reason:  In order to ensure that any contamination of the land is properly 

dealt with. 
 
45. The cumulative total of gross internal floorspace of units on the application 

site whose use is primarily for food retail purposes within Use Class E of the 
Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) (Amendment) (England) 
Regulations 2020 or any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that 
Order shall not exceed 1,899 sq metres.  

  
 Reason: In the interests of the vitality and viability of nearby District and 

Local Shopping Centres. 
 
46. Notwithstanding the terms of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) 

(Amendment) (England) Regulations 2020 or any statutory instrument 
revoking and re-enacting that Order, units 1 (food retail), Unit 2 (gym), and 
Units 4 and 7 (drive thru restaurant) shall be used solely for the use hereby 
permitted and shall not be used for any other purpose within Class E. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of the vitality and viability of the Hillsborough District 

Centre and nearby local shopping centres. 
  
47. Unit 1 (food retail use class E) shall not at any time be split or sub divided 

Page 29



 

into smaller units. 
  
 Reason: In the interests of the vitality and viability of the Hillsborough District 

Centre and nearby local shopping centres. 
  
48. No goods or materials on any kind shall be stored within the yards of any 

units above a height of 5.5 metres above ground level. 
  
 Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality 
 
49. Surface water and foul drainage shall drain to separate systems. 
  
 Reason:  To ensure satisfactory drainage arrangements. 
  
50. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 

recommendations contained in Section 2 of the Flood Risk Assessment (ref: 
37834 006) dated 10th August 2021 prepared by Eastwood and Partners. 

  
 Reason: In the interest of mitigating flood risk. 
     
 
Attention is Drawn to the Following Directives: 
 
 
1. The Local Planning Authority has dealt with the planning application in a 

positive and proactive manner and sought solutions to problems where 
necessary in accordance with the requirements of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
2. Water Supply 
 1) Previous submissions have resulted in protracted discussions at the time 

in regards to the construction and piling methods / mains proximity to 
buildings (unit's 2&3). These have been documented and agreed under 
separate consultation with us (reference al '37843 main REV A' sketch and 
email chain also documented). In addition, the easement is shown to cross 
the site with the nearest point of concern where the main CL is closer 

 than 6 metres away from nearest building. This has been documented and 
agreed with YW (reference 37843 Rev A (unit 2&3)). 

  
 NOTE: Trees should be planted within the agreed easement strip. Root 

barriers must be used to stop root encroachment into easement. 
  
 2) YW have assessed a water design layout for the site which was approved 

under a water application submission (also under separate consultation). 
 
3. Notes For The Developer: 
 i) If the developer is looking to have new sewers included in a sewer 

adoption agreement with Yorkshire Water (under Section 104 of the Water 
Industry Act 1991), he should contact our Developer Services Team 
(telephone 0345 120 84 82, email: 

Page 30



 

technical.sewerage@yorkshirewater.co.uk) at the earliest opportunity. 
Sewers intended for adoption should be designed and constructed in 
accordance with the WRc publication 'Sewers for Adoption - a design and 
construction guide for developers' 6th Edition as supplemented by Yorkshire 
Water's requirements; 

 ii) Foul water from kitchens and/or food preparation areas of any restaurants 
and/or canteens etc. must pass through a fat and grease trap of adequate 
design before any discharge to the public sewer network; 

 iii) Under the provisions of section 111 of the Water Industry Act 1991 it is 
unlawful to pass into any public sewer (or into any drain or private sewer 
communicating with the public sewer network) any items likely to cause 
damage to the public sewer network interfere with the free flow of its 
contents or affect the treatment and disposal of its contents. Amongst other 
things this includes fat, oil, nappies, bandages, syringes, medicines, 

 sanitary towels and incontinence pants. Contravention of the provisions of 
section 111 is a criminal offence; and 

 iv) The developer is required to consult with Yorkshire Water's Trade 
Effluent team (telephone 03451 242424) on any proposal to discharge trade 
effluent to the public sewer network. 

 
4. Waste Water 
 1) Yorkshire Water has no objection to the submitted drawing 37834/004 

revision E, dated 08.01.2021, namely: 
 a) the proposed separate systems of drainage on site and off site; 
 b) the proposed amount of domestic foul water to be discharged to the 

public combined sewer network; and 
 c) the proposed point(s) of discharge of foul to the respective public sewers 

(subject to CCTV survey indicating existing points of connection). 
  
 In addition, the submitted drawing shows surface water proposed to be 

drained to the culverted watercourse crossing the site, which we fully 
endorse. The developer is strongly advised to seek advice/comments from 
the Environment Agency/Land Drainage Authority/Internal Drainage Board 
with regard to surface water disposal from the site. The landowners consent 
will be required for the construction of a new outfall structure. 

 
 As surface water from the site is not proposed to discharge to the public 

sewer network, no assessment of the capacity of the public sewers to 
receive surface water has been undertaken. Should the surface water 
disposal proposals change, further consultation with Yorkshire Water will be 
required. 

 
5. Before commencement of the development, and upon completion, you will 

be required to carry out a dilapidation survey of the highways adjoining the 
site with the Highway Authority.  Any deterioration in the condition of the 
highway attributable to the construction works will need to be rectified. 

  
 To arrange the dilapidation survey, you should contact: 
  
 Highway Co-Ordination 

Page 31



 

  
 Telephone: 0114 273 6677  
 Email: highways@sheffield.gov.uk 
 
6. Plant and equipment shall be designed to ensure that the total LAr plant 

noise rating level (i.e. total plant noise LAeq plus  any character correction 
for tonality, impulsive noise, etc.) does not exceed the LA90 background 
sound level at any time when measured at positions on the site boundary 
adjacent to any noise sensitive use. 

 
7. For larger commercial kitchens or cooking types where odour and noise risk 

is higher, reference should be made to the updated guidance document; 
Control of odour and noise from commercial kitchen exhaust systems 
(EMAQ; 05/09/2018). Appendix 2 of the document provides guidance on the 
information required to support a planning application for a commercial 
kitchen. 

 
8. The applicant is advised that in order to discharge the above condition 

relating to gigabit-capable full fibre broadband the following should be 
provided: 

  
 - A contract or invoice for the installation of the physical infrastructure 

and the   connection to gigabit-capable full fibre broadband. 
 - Confirmation of the speed that will be achieved by the gigabit-capable 

full    fibre broadband infrastructure, from the network 
operator. 

 - Relevant plans showing the location/detail of the measures. 
  
 For more guidance with respect to addressing this requirement please see 

the Guidance Note on 
https://www.sheffield.gov.uk/content/dam/sheffield/docs/documents-not-in-
site-structure/new-build-developer-guidance.pdf and/or contact 
hello@superfastsouthyorkshire.co.uk 

 
9. The applicant is advised that 'Talent Sheffield' is a Sheffield City Council 

initiative delivered through the Invest Sheffield and Opportunity Sheffield 
teams, to ensure that investors and developers in the City receive the 
support required to meet the commitments in the Inclusive Employment and 
Development Plan and deliver the maximum possible benefits to Sheffield 
people and its communities. 

 
10. You are required, as part of this development, to carry out works within the 

public highway.  You must not start any of this work until you have received 
formal permission under the Highways Act 1980 in the form of an S278 
Agreement. Highway Authority and Inspection fees will be payable and a 
Bond of Surety required as part of the S278 Agreement. 

  
 You should contact the S278 Officer for details of how to progress the S278 

Agreement: 
  

Page 32



 

 Mr J Burdett 
 Highways Development Management 
 Highways Maintenance Division 
 Howden House, 1 Union Street  
 Sheffield  
 S1 2SH 
  
 Tel: (0114) 273 6349 
 Email: james.burdett@sheffield.gov.uk 
 
11. Before commencement of the development, and upon completion, you will 

be required to carry out a dilapidation survey of the highways adjoining the 
site with the Highway Authority.  Any deterioration in the condition of the 
highway attributable to the construction works will need to be rectified. 

  
 To arrange the dilapidation survey, you should contact: 
  
 Highway Co-Ordination 
  
 Telephone: 0114 273 6677  
 Email: highways@sheffield.gov.uk 
 
12. Where highway schemes require developers to dedicate land within their 

control for adoption as public highway an agreement under Section 38 of the 
Highways Act 1980 is normally required. 

  
 To ensure that the road and/or footpaths on this development are 

constructed in accordance with the approved plans and specifications, the 
work will be inspected by representatives of the City Council.  An inspection 
fee will be payable on commencement of the works.  The fee is based on 
the rates used by the City Council, under the Advance Payments Code of 
the Highways Act 1980. 

  
 If you require any further information please contact: 
  
 Highway Adoptions 
 Highways Maintenance Division 
 Howden House, 1 Union Street  
 Sheffield  
 S1 2SH 
  
 Email: highwayadoptions@sheffield.gov.uk 
 
13. As the proposed development abuts the public highway you are advised to 

contact the Highways Co-ordination Group prior to commencing works: 
  
 Telephone: 0114 273 6677 
 Email: highways@sheffield.gov.uk 
  
 They will be able to advise you of any pre-commencement condition 

Page 33



 

surveys, permits, permissions or licences you may require in order to carry 
out your works. 

 
14. By law, this development requires the allocation of official, registered 

address(es) by the Council's Street Naming and Numbering Officer. Please 
refer to the Street Naming and Numbering Guidelines on the Council 
website here: 

  
 https://www.sheffield.gov.uk/content/sheffield/home/roads-

pavements/address-management.html 
  
 The guidance document on the website includes details of how to apply, and 

what information we require. For further help and advice please ring 0114 
2736127 or email snn@sheffield.gov.uk 

  
 Please be aware that failure to apply for addresses at the commencement of 

the works will result in the refusal of statutory undertakers to lay/connect 
services, delays in finding the premises in the event of an emergency and 
legal difficulties when selling or letting the properties. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



 

Site Location 
 

 
© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 10018816 

Page 35



 

LOCATION AND PROPOSAL 
 
This application relates to a 4.9-hectare site bound by Penistone Road, Herries 
Road and Herries Road South. The site mostly comprises of hard standing, some 
of which has been used on an occasional and temporary basis for ‘match day’ 
parking for Sheffield Wednesday and other events.  Approximately 3,722m2 of 
gross internal floor space is contained in the 5 existing commercial buildings on 
site, 4 of which are currently vacant.  
 
An area of protected trees (TPO No: 808/157) occupies the northern corner of the 
site. A former vehicle repair premises on the corner of Penistone Road/Herries 
Road South (currently vacant), and a timber yard on Herries Road South/Herries 
Road (occupied) are excluded from the application site. 
 
A watercourse (part open, part culverted) is located within the site. It runs from the 
northwest, across to the eastern side of the site. It is then piped southwards across 
the site and under Herries Road South. 
 
The locality is predominantly mixed industrial/commercial in character. Residential 
properties and the Hillsborough Stadium are located on the western side of 
Penistone Road, opposite the site. 
 
Planning consent was granted on this site in January 2020 (19/00037/FUL) for a 
mixed-use scheme involving the demolition of all existing buildings on site and the 
erection of 14 commercial units including: 
 

- 3 retail units (within use class A1) comprising a total of 3,199m2 floor space 
- 8 storage and distribution units (within use class B8) comprising 8,660m2 

floor space 
- 2 drive through restaurants (within use class A3/A5) comprising 343m2 floor 

space 
- 1 vehicle maintenance and repair unit (within use class B2) comprising 

409m2  space 
- Associated landscaping, parking, new access and related highways works 

on and off site 
 
This application is a resubmission of the above and seeks permission to alter the 
design, layout and mix of uses within the approved scheme. The number of units 
proposed in this revised scheme is reduced from 14 to 9, and the overall floor 
space reduced from 11,682m2 to 9,728m2. 
 
The use classes referenced in this revised scheme take account of the 
amendments the Government made to the Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) (Amendment) (England) 2020 in October 2020. 
 
This revised scheme proposes the demolition of all existing buildings and erection 
of 9 commercial units including: 
 

- 1 retail unit (Class E(a)) including an Aldi foodstore – 1,899m2 floor space 
- A gym (Class E(d)) – 1,023m2 floor space 

Page 36



 

- 3 storage and distribution units (Class B8) one of which includes outside 
storage and racking – 4,243m2 floor space 

- 2 drive thru restaurants (Class E (b/Sui Generis)) - 343m2 of floor space 
- 1 builders’ merchant (Sui Generis) including the display, sale and storage of 

building timber and plumbing supplies, plant and tool hire, including outside 
display and storage along with storage racking, ancillary kitchen joinery 
showroom – 1,811m2 floor space 

- 1 vehicle maintenance, repair and MOT unit (Class B2) - 409m2 floor space 
- 2 substations 

 
During the consideration of the application some further minor amendments to the 
design and layout of unit 5 (builders’ merchant) have been submitted. 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
The site was subject to several planning applications in the 1980s, the 1990s and 
one in 2003 for several retail (food and non-food) and mixed-use schemes that 
included offices, business, general industrial and storage and distribution, petrol 
filling stations, vehicle repair uses and fast-food restaurants and car parking. 
Several of these applications were withdrawn, refused, granted or allowed on 
appeal  
The planning history most relevant to the consideration of this application is the 
January 2020 permission (ref: 19/00037/FUL) identified above, which this 
application is a resubmission of.  
 
SUMMARY OF REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The application has been advertised by press and site notices. Adjoining properties 
have also been informed by letter. In total 14 letters of representation have been 
received. 13 in objection and 1 in support of the scheme. The representations are 
summarised as follows: 
 
In objection: 
 
Highways issues 
 

- The road network is at capacity and increased traffic and associated 
congestion cannot be accommodated and will negatively affect surrounding 
residents and businesses 

- The safety of pedestrians will be compromised by the site access proposal, 
particularly on match days, when footfall is very high 

- No measures are included to mitigate the disruption to cyclists using the 
Penistone Road cycle route are proposed 

- The Upper Don Trail and the Penistone Road cycleway (part of the national 
cycle network) come together at this site and there is inadequate provision 
within and through this site for cyclists 

- The emphasis on car-based mobility and out of date attitudes towards active 
travel need to be addressed urgently given how the context for this 
development has substantially changed in the last year (reference to global 
pandemic) and the need to achieve carbon neutrality 

Page 37



 

- Displaced matchday parking and potential damage to highway verges needs 
to be considered by the developer 

- This is a car focused development with little direct access for pedestrians 
from the surrounding highways, too much space is dedicated to parking and 
vehicle circulation 

- The proposal is contrary to national and local policy aims of reducing car 
dependence 

- The proposed scheme does not prioritise or promote pedestrian cycle 
access or provide off road pedestrian and cycle infrastructure that should 
now be built to nationally recognised standard of LTN 01/20 

- The development will harm the environment and deter active travel, with 
little benefit to the local community 

 
Retail/Business concerns 
 

- The units and types of uses proposed are like others in the locality. A 
number of these existing units sit empty and unused 

- A more diverse range of units such as pharmacies, shops selling clothing 
and other household goods would be more attractive, than uses that are like 
existing business already operating in the area 

- Additional catering facilities will affect the income and viability of mobile 
caters who serve customers on Sheffield Wednesday match days 

 
Visual amenity 
 

- The development is not aesthetically of any value. 
 
Other issues 
 

- The development does not contribute towards the cultural, heritage and 
wildlife aspects of the River Don and its tributaries, which are becoming a 
linear park and wildlife corridor 

- There is no provision for public electric vehicle charging, this is necessary 
based on the given the Governments proposal to ban internal combustion 
engines from 2030 

- Higher power 10kw chargers should be provided rather than the ‘token’ 
7KW chargers provided as part of the Sainsburys development 

 
Cycle Sheffield object on the following grounds: 
 

- The development fails to sufficiently facilitate sustainable and active travel 
- No detail has been provided on how the historic waterway (Wardsend Goyt) 

with the site is to be restored, made accessible and managed. Details of 
how the woodland and mill goyt area is to be restored should be provided to 
enable this area of the site to become a valuable and attractive public 
amenity and wildlife habitat 

- The applicants have modified the scheme to take account of the changes in 
the market, as such the LPA are entitled to strengthen its requirement to 
support sustainable and active travel to ensure that infrastructure is now 
built to LTN01/20 standards 

Page 38



 

- The site stands at a key location at the emergence of two long distance 
cycle routes both of which could be significantly improved within the 
development site without impinging on its functionality 

- A series of improvements to the planning conditions and amendments to the 
scheme are required considering recent local and national policy 
commitments to promoting sustainable travel. These include: 

- 5m wide cycleway (segregated) along the whole Penistone Road site 
frontage. This is currently shown to be tortuously diverted 

- The footway on the Herries Road North widened to 5 metres with 
segregated cycleway installed as part of the development not noted as a 
future ‘improvement line’ for others to provide. The proposed 4 metre width 
is substandard. The impacts from the loss of a small number of self-seeded 
trees to accommodate the works would be minimal. The 5-metre width is 
required to continue the Upper Don Trail being developed by the Council 

- Vehicle accesses from Penistone Road and Herries Road North to be 
continuous cycle-footways or ‘blended crossings’ (walking and cycling 
priority) 

- A Toucan Crossing at Penistone Road/Herries Road junction prior to use 
commencing and funded by the applicants given the increased priority 
afforded to active and sustainable travel 

- Enhanced car parking restrictions is required as parking on footways and 
cycle lanes is a problem on SWFC match days 

- Ecological survey of the woodland and Goyt and a plan for its restoration 
has not been supplied. The area has ecological and historic value that could 
become a valuable and attractive public amenity if public access is provided, 
and enhancements made 

 
The Upper Don Trail Trust object on the following grounds: 
 

- Insufficient contribution to facilitating sustainable and active travel on the 
major roads adjoining the site 

- Ecological and historical value of the Wardsend Goyt how it is to be 
restored, made accessible and managed has not be explored. 
Improvements are required and are not incorporated into the proposals 

- The council are entitled to strengthen its requirements for the applicants to 
support sustainable and active travel to the various outlets proposed, some 
of which (gym) will attract more users with a greater interest in active travel 

- The approved scheme does not do enough to satisfy previous travel plan 
condition including requirements to reduce dependence on private cars 

- A series of improvement to the site and related infrastructure are requested 
including: 
- Widening of the Penistone Cycle route (5 metres) 
- 5 metres segregated cycle footway on Herries Road to provide a 

continuation of the Upper Don Trail/ 
- Blended of Copenhagen style crossing on the Penistone Road frontage 
- A toucan crossing should be provided at the Herries Road 

South/Penistone Road Junction by the developer now, rather than being 
land potentially be reserved for subsequent future improvements 

 
Councillor Christine Gilligan Kubo on behalf of the Sheffield Green Party objects on 

Page 39



 

the following grounds: 
 

- Supports active travel and facilities that reduce car usage to support the 
City’s carbon reduction strategy 

- Support the Upper Don Trail and Cycle Sheffield’s proposal to improve 
active travel routes on the site and much stronger commitment to 
sustainable travel 

- Planners are urged to insist on segregated cycleways and safer road 
crossings including 5-metre-wide segregated pedestrian cycle route linking 
Claywheels Lane to Herries Road and along the Penistone Road site 
frontage 

- Clear plans are required for the restoration and management of the 
Wardsend Goyt and the rundown woodland on site to facilitate public access 

- Toucan crossing required at Penistone Road/Herries Road 
- Penistone Road site access redesigned as a blended crossing with 

pedestrian and cycle priority access 
- Better enforcement of car parking restrictions is required 

 
1 representation in support, summarised as follows: 
 

- The site is used to exercise dogs and is in a very poor condition 
- The development will provide much needed investment in a derelict site 
- Jobs will be created for local people 

 
PLANNING ASSESSMENT 
 
Policy Context 
 
All planning applications must be determined under s38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase 2004 Act and Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990, that is in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF/Framework) is a material consideration in planning decisions.  
 
The key principle of the July 2021 revised National Planning Policy Framework 
(paragraph 8) remains the presumption in favour of sustainable development, 
which is identified as having three overarching objectives (economic, social and 
environmental) that are independent, and should be pursued in mutually supportive 
ways. This assessment will have due regard to these overarching principles. 
 
The Framework’s presumption in favour of sustainable development does not 
change the status of the development plan as the starting point for decision 
making. The Council’s Development Plan (UDP and Core Strategy) which 
substantially predate the publication of the Framework, should not however, simply 
be considered out-of-date because of their age. Paragraph 219 of the Framework 
requires due weight to be afforded to the relevant Development Plan Policies, 
according to their degree of consistency with the Framework. The closer a policy in 
the Development Plan is to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight it 
may be given. 
Planning Balance 

Page 40



 

The assessment of this development also needs to be considered in light of 
paragraph 11 of the Framework, which states that for the purposes of decision 
making where there are no relevant development plan policies, or those policies 
most important for determining the application are out of date, planning permission 
should be granted unless:  
 

i. the application of policies in the Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the proposed 
development, or 
 
ii. any adverse impacts of granting planning permission would significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in the Framework taken as a whole.  
 

This is referred to as the “tilted balance” and this assessment will have due regard 
to this overarching principle. 
 
The main issue to consider are whether this amended scheme raises any 
materially different planning issues to the consented scheme. 
 
Land Use Policy  
 
The principle of a redeveloping this underused previously developed site for a 
commercial led mixed use scheme, is established by the extant planning consent 
ref:  19/00037/FUL. 
 
The UDP Proposals Map identifies the site as being mostly within a Fringe Industry 
and Business Area. The strip of land between the watercourse at the northern end 
of the site and Herries Road is identified as Open Space.  
 
UDP Policy IB6 (Development in Fringe Industry and Business Areas [FIBA]) 
identifies the uses that are preferred, acceptable or unacceptable in the area. 
Several the use classes listed in IB6 either no longer exist or have been 
superseded by the October 2020 revision to the Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) (Amendment) (England). As such this assessment will have regard to the 
uses described in Policy IB6 i.e., industrial, food and drink rather than the specific 
use class identified by the policy such as use class A1, A5 etc as these no longer 
exist.   
 
As with the previous scheme B2 uses (car repair) and B8 (warehousing) remain 
preferred uses of land in FIBA’s. 
 
Unit 6 is to be occupied by a builders’ merchant, which as part of this scheme is 
classified as a ‘sui generis’ use.  IB6 requires ‘sui generis’ uses to be considered 
on their merits. Builders’ yards are inherently commercial/industrial in character 
and in some cases determined to fall within use class B8/B2. This is a busy 
commercial area where a builder’s yard, regardless of its use classification, is 
considered to be acceptable in principle. 
 
The drive thru restaurants, which the applicants consider to be class E/sui generis 

Page 41



 

uses, are food and drink uses under the terms of Policy IB6 and are acceptable in 
FIBAs. Gym uses now fall into use class E. Previously they fell within use class D2 
(leisure and recreation uses) which are acceptable in FIBA’s.  
 
Small shops (defined by the UDP as less than 280 sqm sales area) are identified 
by IB6 as acceptable.  Other shops, larger than 280 sqm, which includes the food 
store proposed, are identified as unacceptable unless on the edge of the Central 
Shopping Area or a District or Local Shopping Area.  
 
The Policy IB6 approach to restricting larger retail developments (more than 280 
sqm) to the locations listed in the policy is inconsistent with the sequential 
approach prescribed in Framework. The acceptability of the proposed retail, gym 
and food and drink uses, all of which are defined as ‘main town centre’ uses by 
Annex 2 of the Framework, is considered against the more up to date guidance in 
the Framework (paragraphs 87 -91) elsewhere in this report. 
 
Industry and Business Policy 
 
Floor space dedicated to industrial/warehouse uses including the sui generis 
builders’ yard use has been reduced under this scheme by 1,677m2, from 7,731m2 
to 6,054m2. 
 
B1, B2 and B8 are preferred uses (in Policy IB6) that should remain the dominant 
land use (Policy IB9 a) in Fringe Industry and Business. The Core Strategy 
continues this general approach but introduces some flexibility by encouraging a 
wider range of employment uses.  
 
Core Strategy (CS) Policy CS1 requires land to be made available for office and 
industrial development in existing employment areas and there remains a need to 
safeguard land for commercial development in line with objectively assessed 
needs. Given its age the level of requirement in the CS is however out of date. The 
Council’s Employment Land Review (ELR) is more up to date. It identifies a lower 
requirement than the CS, however, there still remains a significant land 
requirement. The site is identified as suitable for an employment allocation in the 
ELR, but it forms only one element of what is currently considered to be around a 
10-year supply of employment sites.  
 
This scheme reduces the floorspace dedicated to commercial uses compared to 
the approved scheme, including the floorspace dedicated to preferred B2 and B8 
uses. However, the method for measuring dominance as set out in Appendix 1 of 
the UDP considers ground floor area, rather than total floorspace. Around 2.95 of 
the 4.68-hectare site approved under the previous application was made up of 
preferred uses (IB6). This revised scheme reduces, but not significantly, the overall 
floorspace dedicated to preferred uses. The use of other parts of the site for non-
business/ industrial/storage/distribution uses is not however considered to 
jeopardise the overall supply of land for employment uses in the area, as large part 
of the site will be developed for preferred uses and there remain many existing 
commercial uses in the local area. There is no significant conflict with IB9 (a) or 
CS1 as employment related industrial and business uses are provided. 
 

Page 42



 

The scheme continues to accord with CS2 which promotes business and industry 
on previously developed land, and locations accessible by public transport. It is 
also compliant with CS5 which promotes manufacturing, distribution/warehousing 
and non-office business in the Upper Don Valley; and CS10 which promotes 
industrial, and business uses in the Upper Don Valley. 
 
UDP Policy IB8 seeks to protect specified industrial and business sites for their 
preferred uses.  In this instance the application site is not a specified industrial and 
business site in the context of the UDP. 
 
The remainder of the criteria in IB9, IB10, IB11, IB12, IB13, IB14 are either not 
relevant to this type of development or considered to be complied with. 
Open Space Policy Issues 
 
As with the previous scheme the development does not encroach into the open 
space areas within the site. Consequently, there is no conflict with local or national 
open space policy. 
 
Retail Policy 
 
As stated earlier, the Policy IB6 approach to restricting larger retail developments 
(more than 280 sqm) is not consistent with the sequential approach described in 
paragraphs 87 to 91 of the Framework. IB6 requires development to comply with 
Policy S5 (shopping development outside the central shopping area and District 
Centres) which is also inconsistent with the Framework. The weight afforded to IB6 
and S5 is therefore substantially reduced.  
 
This assessment does however still consider the cumulative impacts of retail 
development in line with the requirements of S5, although the weight afforded to 
cumulative impact is substantially reduced as it is not a specific requirement of the 
Framework or the National Planning Practice Guide (NPPG). 
 
In accordance with annexe 2 of the Framework the extant planning permission 
includes the following ‘main town centre uses’: a discount food store (1,899m2), 
two further retail units intended for comparison goods (557m2 and 743m2), and two 
drive through restaurant units (176m2 and 167m2).  
 
Under this revised scheme two of the previously approved retail units (02 and 03) 
are replaced by a gym (1,023m2 including mezzanine) and a B8 trade unit (651m2). 
Class E retail floorspace is reduced by 1,300m2, from 3,189m2 to 1,889m2. The 
floor space dedicated to main town centre uses (gym, food store, drive thru 
restaurants) as part of this revised scheme is 3,265m. This occurs largely because 
of the new gym’s inclusion of a mezzanine floor. 
 
The previous application was subject to the sequential and impact tests set out in 
paragraphs 86 to 90 of the 2019 Framework. The same sequential and impacts 
tests are contained in paragraphs 87 to 90 of the July 2021 Framework and remain 
applicable to this revised scheme. 
 
Sequential Test 

Page 43



 

 
The Framework states that planning policies and decisions should support the role 
that town centres play at the heart of local communities, by taking a positive 
approach to their growth, management and adaption (paragraph 86). 
 
Paragraphs 87 to 90 of the Framework describe the circumstances where local 
planning authorities should apply a sequential test (ST) to applications for main 
town centre uses. An impact test is required for retail and leisure development 
proposals with a gross floorspace of over 2500m2 (where there is no locally set 
threshold, as is the case in Sheffield) which should include impact on investment 
and on town centre vitality and viability. 
 
The purpose of the sequential test is to ensure that the suitability of more central 
sites to accommodate the development have been fully considered.  The applicant 
has submitted a sequential test.  
 
As with the previous scheme the area of search for sequentially preferable sites is 
limited to the proposal’s primary catchment area (where it would expect to draw 
90% of its trade from) which is a 5-minute drivetime. Shoppers will generally travel 
to the retail destination that is closest to them and a 5-minute drive-time catchment 
avoids significant overlap with catchments of other existing destinations that are 
similar in size to this proposal (of which there are several in north and north-west 
Sheffield). The above approach was previously considered appropriate by officers 
(and an independent reviewer) and there is not considered to be any legitimate 
reasons to alter the requirements for this revised scheme.  
 
It is not considered appropriate to disaggregate the proposal, which would lead to 
smaller in-centre sites being considered for each component of the proposal. The 
reasons for this are the same as the previous application; breaking the proposal up 
into component parts would change the broad nature of the proposal and, for a 
detailed scheme where occupiers are lined up, such as this, it is unreasonable to 
apply that level of flexibility (Aldergate Properties Ltd v Mansfield District Council 
and Regal Sherwood Oaks). 
 
Consistent with the previous application search for suitable opportunities in the 
catchment, the applicant has applied a 20% allowance either way to the proposed 
developable retail area. These parameters demonstrate a flexibility over the format 
and scale of the development that are reasonable and accord with the NPPG, 
which advises that it is not necessary to demonstrate that a potential town centre 
or edge of centre site can precisely accommodate the scale and form being 
proposed. 
 
The applicant did not find any suitable or available sites within the catchment. 
Under 19/00037/FUL, Hillsborough Exchange was considered available and could 
feasibly accommodate the amount of proposed floorspace, but the characteristics 
of the proposed redevelopment would not suit the operational requirements or 
trading model of a discount foodstore and drive-thru facility in particular.  
 
Discount food stores require ample car parking that is easily connected to the store 
and a prominent roadside location which is capable of attracting passing trade. 

Page 44



 

Officers previously agreed with this conclusion, which was in line with the principles 
associated with the High Court Judgement in respect of Aldergate Properties Ltd v 
Mansfield District Council and Regal Sherwood Oaks Ltd (issued July 2016) in 
which Mr Justice Ouseley gives clarity to the level of flexibility required when 
assessing a sequential test. There are not considered to be any reasons to revise 
the Council’s position on this matter. Consistent with the previous approval there 
are not considered to be any other suitable sites for the main town centre uses 
proposed within this revised scheme, and on that basis, the sequential test is 
considered to have been passed. 
 
Impact Test 
 
An impact assessment was carried out by the applicant for the previous consent 
because the total amount of proposed retail floorspace was above 2,500m2 which 
is the trigger point in the Framework (Paragraph 90) for when an impact 
assessment is required. This proposal reduces the amount of retail floorspace 
below that trigger point, but UDP Policy S5, which carries limited weight, requires 
impact to be considered for all retail development outside the Central Shopping 
Area and District Shopping Centres. The applicant references the potential impact 
on the vitality and viability of District and Local Centres within the proposal’s 
catchment, and on existing, committed, and planned investment within those 
Centres (covering the two categories of impact in Framework paragraph 90). 
 
The Framework and the NPPG do not require an assessment of the cumulative 
impacts of developments but Policy S5 does (in relation to the City Centre and 
District centres). 
 
The previous impact assessment was considered by Council’s Officer and 
independently reviewed (‘the independent review’) by external consultants 
appointed by the Council. 
 
Hillsborough District Centre 
 
The applicant states that the impact on Hillsborough District Centre, when 
considering the cumulative impact of the new Lidl at Malin Bridge and the recent 
changes at Kilner Way Retail Park, was assessed to be 11% under the extant 
permission. This accounted for the restrictions on the sale of fashion and footwear 
goods at units 2 and 3 and a ‘no poaching’ clause (which seeks to ensure that 
existing comparison goods retailers in Hillsborough District Centre retain a 
presence in the centre for at least five years). Without these conditions, officers 
(and the previous independent review) concluded that the impact on the vitality and 
viability of Hillsborough would be significant adverse. 
 
Removing the sale of retail goods from units 2 and 3 means the conditions placed 
on the extant approval are no longer needed. Officers consider the cumulative 
impact of the proposal is reduced from 11% to 9.8%, while the convenience and 
comparison impact of the proposal on its own is 3.2% on Hillsborough (compared 
with 4.4% for the extant permission with conditions). 
 
The revised proposal is not likely to result in a significant adverse impact on the 

Page 45



 

vitality and viability of Hillsborough District Centre, which was previously identified 
to be operating above its benchmark. It also remains anchored by Morrisons and 
provides a good range of comparison shops and other related retail services 
expected of a district centre. The effect of the Covid-19 pandemic on centres is 
acknowledged and considered in further detail below. 
 
Catch Bar Lane Local Centre 
 
Catch Bar Lane (also known as Middlewood Road) Local Centre is the largest of 
the local centres in the catchment area. It is anchored by a small well-established 
Asda store and contains many independent operators. At the time the extant 
permission was granted in January 2020, it was assessed as a reasonably healthy 
centre with four vacant units (out of 67 units). Officers (and the independent 
review) at the time considered that the impact of the proposed development, on its 
own, would not be ‘significant adverse’ (14% impact). Officer consider the impact 
will because of this revised scheme be reduced to around 12.9%. 
 
It was reported under 19/00037/FUL that the cumulative impact of the proposals 
(25% in 2020, now 24.6%), considering Jack’s foodstore at Kilner Way and the Lidl 
at Malin Bridge, was likely to have significant adverse impacts on the overall vitality 
and viability of Catch Bar Lane Local Centre. The cumulative impact of this revised 
development is reduced following the exclusion of the retail uses that previously 
occupied units 2 and 3 under the extant permission. The percentage impact still 
however remains high, as Catch Bar Lane is largely reliant on the sale of 
convenience goods. The impact is acknowledged, however consistent with the 
previous decision, there remains no grounds to refuse the proposal under Policy 
S5 as it is not consistent with the national policy, and it only requires the 
consideration of cumulative impact on the City Centre and District Shopping 
Centres. Catch Bar Lane is a Local Centre.  
 
Halifax Road Local Centre 
 
At the time of approving the extant permission, Halifax Road Local Centre was 
judged to be a healthy and attractive local centre with a low vacancy rate. The 
existing Lidl store is the largest of the units in the centre and there is a range of 
independent convenience and comparison shops. The independent review 
considered the impact of the Penistone Road proposal on its own (21.4%, 20.81% 
today) would not be ‘significant adverse’ because of the very good health of the 
Centre and because of the likelihood that the Lidl store will continue to trade 
satisfactorily, despite bearing the brunt of the impact.  
 
The cumulative impact of the proposals (24.9%, 24.75% today) considering Jack’s 
and the Parker’s Yard (Malin Bridge) scheme, was considered likely to have a 
significant adverse impact on the overall vitality and viability of Halifax Road Local 
Centre. Although the cumulative impact has reduced with the proposed exclusion 
of retail goods being sold from units 2 and 3, the percentage impact is still high 
because Halifax Road is largely reliant on the sale of convenience goods. The 
Council’s position with regards to Policy S5 remains the same as above in relation 
to Catch Bar Lane. 
 

Page 46



 

Other Centres 
 
The view of officers and the independent review at the time of granting the extant 
permission, considered that the other Centres within the proposal’s catchment – 
Southey Green Local Centre, Dykes Hall Lane Local Centre, Chaucer District 
Centre, Herries Road Local Centre and Malin Bridge Local Centre – were not likely 
to be significantly adversely affected by the proposal. There is no reason to change 
this view and, overall, the impact on vitality and viability is likely to be reduced 
because of the removal of retail goods floorspace from units 2 and 3.  
 
The Impact of Covid-19 
 
A committee report accompanying the previous application reported that a 
judgement needed to be made about how significant impact would be based on 
local circumstances. The existing health and vitality of a Centre is an important 
factor as described in the NPPG. For example, a small impact on an already 
struggling Centre is more likely to be significantly adverse than on a Centre that 
has fewer vacancies, a good range of shops and high footfall. 
 
There are limitations to undertaking town centre health checks such as observing 
footfall levels and vacancies, due to the recent measures that have required people 
to work from home (where possible) and the prolonged closure of ‘non-essential’ 
businesses. It is widely accepted that ‘lockdown’ measures have accelerated 
changes in consumer behaviour and retailers have been forced to re-evaluate their 
space requirements. It is possible that these changes could affect Hillsborough 
District Centre and other centres, though it is likely to have more effect on the sale 
of comparison rather than convenience goods, which have remained open 
throughout the pandemic; the latest proposal only includes predominantly 
convenience floorspace (discount food store) and is therefore a lot less likely to 
impact  
 
Hillsborough and the surrounding areas 
 
There are reports nationwide that centres that have high residential populations 
around them (which Hillsborough and the others identified centres do) have fared 
relatively well since March 2020 due to a higher number of people working from 
home (Local Data Company 2020H1) and shopping locally. The applicants don’t 
offer any such data or observations for Hillsborough or the other centres as part of 
this application. However, it is not strictly necessary or required, and for the 
reasons identified above is not considered to have any significant material impact 
on the vitality or operation of the centres.  
 
Online shopping is reported to have increased over the last 12 months (from 
around 20% pre-pandemic to 30-35% for all retailing). An increase in online trading 
will have caused a reduction in turnover of Hillsborough and other centres (and will 
thus intensify the impact from out-of-centre shopping) and although this is 
anticipated to rise back as restrictions are fully lifted, some commentators say that 
the rate of online shopping will not drop to pre-pandemic levels. Again, the extent 
to which this will affect Hillsborough and other centres is not known because they 
have always relied, and will likely continue to rely, on a local catchment for 

Page 47



 

predominantly convenience goods. Also, discount foodstores do not have a 
significant online presence so are less affected by such trends. When considering 
the impact of the proposed and extant schemes on a like-for-like basis, an increase 
in online trading is unlikely to have a significant adverse impact on Hillsborough 
District Centre or other centres. 
 
Impact on existing, committed and planned investment 
 
The removal of retail goods floorspace from units 2 and 3 significantly reduces the 
relevance of the objections received as part of the extant scheme from Killultagh 
Estates. There is not considered to be any reason to be concerned about the 
impact on existing, committed and planned investment at Hillsborough or any other 
Centre within the proposal’s catchment. 
 
Impact of food, drink and Gym use 
 
The total amount of food and beverage and leisure floorspace in the latest proposal 
is 1,366m2. These proposals will make the scheme more attractive than if it was 
only a discount foodstore and B8/sui generis uses, but on a like-for-like basis the 
impact on Hillsborough and other Centres will be limited (currently there is only 
understood to be one fitness venue in Hillsborough). Given the relatively small 
volume of floorspace dedicated to food, drink and leisure, and the nature of the 
uses proposed, Hillsborough District Centre and other Centres within the proposed 
development’s catchment are not considered to be significantly adversely 
impacted. 
 
Retail conclusion 
 
The revised scheme is considered to have passed the sequential test and is not 
likely to lead to a significant adverse impact on the vitality of viability of Centres 
within the proposal’s catchment, nor on existing, committed or planned investment. 
 
When recommending approval of the previous scheme, officers were concerned 
about the impact of units 2 and 3 if they were allowed to sell comparison goods 
unrestricted; such floorspace has a higher sales density, and therefore greater 
impact, than convenience goods floorspace. Now that units 2 and 3 are no longer 
proposed for retail at all, those concerns are removed, and impacts reduced. 
 
Framework paragraph 54 clearly identifies that planning conditions should not be 
used to restrict national permitted development rights unless there is clear 
justification to do so. In this case it is recommended that the sale of convenience 
goods (primarily) remains limited to the proposed 1,899m2 of floor space contained 
in unit 1 so that the discount foodstore is the only retail element of the scheme. 
Otherwise, following amendments to the use classes order, under Class E the gym 
and drive thru restaurants could be changed to retail (use class E) without 
permission. The subsequent impact of which falls outside the scope of this 
assessment and could result in negative impacts on Hillsborough District Centre 
and other local centres in the area. On that basis conditions controlling the retail 
floor space and preventing the change of use of the gym and drive thru restaurants 
to retail, without first seeking permission from the local planning authority is 

Page 48



 

deemed necessary and justified.   
 
Design Issues 
 
UDP Policy IB9 (Conditions on development in industry and business areas) 
includes criteria (c) and (d) which seek to ensure that buildings are well designed, 
of a scale and nature appropriate to the site and the built and green environment is 
protected.  To comply with IB9 (e) development should not harm the quality of the 
environment to such an extent that other new industry and business development 
would be discouraged.  Good quality landscape design in all new development is 
expected (UDP policy BE6) expected and the protection of trees and woodland and 
retention of mature trees and hedgerows (where possible), and replacement of 
trees that are lost to accommodate development is required by GE15. Paragraph 
170 a) and b) recognise the economic and other benefits of trees and woodland. 
 
UDP Policy BE5 and Core Strategy Policy CS74 seek good quality design and 
requires development to respect the areas landscape character. 
 
Chapter 12 of the Framework (Achieving well-designed places) identifies good 
design is a key aspect of sustainable development. Paragraph 130, seeks to 
ensure that developments function well and add to the overall quality of the area, 
and: 
 

- are visually attractive because of good architecture, layout and landscaping 
- are sympathetic to local character, including the surrounding built 

environment (while not preventing appropriate innovation or change) 
- maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, spaces, 

building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming, and distinctive 
places to live, work and visit; and  

- optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an 
appropriate amount and mix of development 

 
The identified local design and landscape policies are considered to align with the 
Framework and continue to carry substantial weight in the determination of this 
application. 
 
Layout and landscaping 
 
The site is highly prominent and visible from three public highways, two of which 
(Penistone Road and Herries Road) are identified as strategic highways on the 
UDP proposals map. 
 
The site is laid out in a typical retail/business park arrangement. Each unit has 
dedicated parking and servicing facilities that can be accessed from the adjoining 
highways and the proposed internal spine road. Each of the previously approved 
pedestrian/vehicular accesses to the site from Penistone Road, Herries Road and 
Herries Road south are retained.  
 
As with the previous scheme the two drive thru restaurants are located on the 
Penistone Road site frontage. The orientation of Unit 7 (previously unit 12), which 

Page 49



 

is located towards the southern end of the site, has been turned through 90 
degrees and the drive thru lane and parking reconfigured. The siting and 
arrangement of the other drive thru restaurant (unit 04) and commercial units 8 and 
9 (previously 13a and 13B) remains unchanged from the previous scheme.  
The substantial area of protected woodland located adjacent to the north and east 
boundaries of the site are retained, consistent with the approved scheme. The 
layout and siting of the proposed food store is unchanged. The footprint of Unit 2 
which sits alongside the food store, has been increased slightly and a mezzanine 
floor added to accommodate the proposed gym use. Unit 3 has been reduced in 
size slightly and sited further to the south adjacent to the site access from Herries 
Road. The layout of these elements of the scheme remains acceptable. 
 
The primary layout changes relate to the units located centrally and to the south of 
the site. A terrace of 5 commercial units (previously units 06 to 10) are to be 
replaced by a single large commercial unit (unit 05) and its associated yard and 
service area which will be accessed from Herries Road. 
 
Approved Unit 11 was sited adjacent to Herries Road South and was a very large 
format building (3,366m2 floor area) and had an associated outside storage and 
service yard to the side. It is to be replaced with a much smaller building along with 
storage areas, racking, vehicle circulation space and parking associated with a 
proposed builder’s merchants. Customers will access the unit from the proposed 
site spine road. Service vehicles will access from Herries Road under a similar way 
to the approved scheme. 
 
New tree planting and landscaping will compensate for the loss of the low value 
trees (Category C) within the site that are removed to accommodate the 
development. 
 
The group of TPO’d trees at the northern tip of the site are largely retained and will 
be protected during construction in accordance with the relevant British Standard. 
Some limited pruning of the TPO trees overhanging the site and the highways is 
proposed, as is some limited felling of dead or dying species (mainly willow) within 
the woodland. 
 
High quality hard and soft landscaping is integrated into the scheme. The mature 
woodland to the north will screen the service yards of the food store and unit 2 and 
3. 
 
The revisions to the site layout are considered acceptable. 
 
External appearance 
 
The drive thru restaurants have been designed to reflect the requirements of their 
potential occupants. Unit 04 (Costa Coffee) is faced in standing seem metal 
cladding, curtain wall glazing and buff brick. Unit 07 (Taco Bell) is primarily faced in 
buff brickwork and glazing, but also includes some contrasting Corten and 
anthracitic composite cladding. 
 
The proposed food store and units 2 and 3 are read as a terrace. They are faced in 

Page 50



 

buff brick and include large areas of glazing and elements of metal standing seam 
bronze coloured cladding. Building entrances are made legible through the addition 
of entrance canopies. 
 
The other commercial units (builders yard etc.) are generally two storeys high, 
some include internal mezzanines. The buildings are faced in silver and anthracite 
cladding, with large areas of glazing. Sections of buff brick are also proposed and 
are framed with a contrasting bronze coloured metal cladding. Units 8 and 9 
include green walls. Glazing is used to identify building entrances and publicly 
accessible parts of the various buildings proposed. Unit 06 has a large yard that 
includes substantial areas of racking for the storage and display of goods. These 
areas are not considered to harm the visual amenities of the appearance of the site 
as they will largely be screened from the public highway by existing and proposed 
buildings and new landscaping. Racking and outside storage will be limited to a 
height of 5.5 metres to maximise the screening effects of the adjoining buildings. 
 
The revised layout and minor changes to the design and external appearance of 
the development are considered acceptable.  
 
The proposal is considered to enhance the appearance of the site. 
 
Highway Issues 
 
UDP Policy IB9 (f) identifies that new development should be adequately served by 
transport facilities, not endanger pedestrians, provide safe access to the highway 
network and provides appropriate off-street parking. 
 
Policy CS51 identifies 6 strategic transport priorities which include, promoting 
choice by developing alternatives to the car, maximising accessibility, containing 
congestion levels, improving air quality, road safety and supporting economic 
objectives through demand management and sustainable travel initiatives.   
 
CS53 sets out a number of ways the demand for travel will be managed to meet 
needs.  These include promoting public transport, cycling and walking, 
implementing travel plans to maximise the use of sustainable forms of travel and 
mitigate negative impacts of transport, and applying maximum parking standards to 
manage the provision of private parking spaces.  
 
Policy CS55 states that improvements to the cycle network will be given priority on 
strategic links, mainly to key employment locations particularly on, amongst other 
routes, through the Upper Don Valley with a network of links to neighbouring 
residential areas. 
 
Framework paragraph 110 identifies that opportunities to promote sustainable 
transport modes should be taken up based on the type of development proposed 
and its location; safe and suitable access is secured for all users; the design of 
streets, parking areas and other transport elements reflects current national 
guidance (including the National Design Guide and the National Model Design 
Code) and significant impacts on the transport networks or highway safety are cost 
effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree. 

Page 51



 

 
Paragraph 111 of the Framework confirms that development should only be 
prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable 
impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network 
would be severe.  
 
The site is to be accessed from Penistone Road, Herries Road and Herries Road 
South. Penistone Road and Herries Road are bus routes and have stops next to 
and opposite the site. There is a shared pedestrian cycle route along the Penistone 
Road frontage of the site. 
 
Traffic Modelling 
 
The previous scheme was supported by a detailed transport assessment. The 
assessment utilised the Council owned micro-simulation model (Aimsum) which 
considered the implications of development traffic in the immediate vicinity of the 
site. The modelling demonstrated that movements to and from the development 
wouldn’t worsen the existing operation of the network, journey times and/or 
congestion. The design and layout of the previous scheme was also not 
considered to compromise highway safety.  
 
The computer database TRICS was used to derive multi-modal trips for the 
previous application. The same database has been used to derive trips for this 
revised scheme and the accompanying transport assessment has been updated to 
reflect the proposed changes to the scheme. 
 
Even with taking account of the addition of a gymnasium, the predicted traffic 
movements associated with this revised scheme have reduced by 31 vehicle 
movements (two-way) in the AM peak hour, 3 vehicle movements (two-way) in the 
PM peak hour and 99 vehicle movements (two-way) in the Saturday peak hour, 
when compared to the extant planning permission. This being the case and 
bearing in mind the developer already has an extant planning consent for a 
scheme that includes more floorspace, no additional modelling work has been 
undertaken or considered necessary by officers. for this fresh application. 
 
Three new junctions provide access to the site. The internal layout and existing 
junction on the network are all considered to continue to perform within capacity 
when subjected to the anticipated development trips. There are no highway 
objections to the proposed accesses for service vehicles.  The proposed 
development would not cause unacceptable impact on highway safety or severe 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network. 
 
A condition is recommended to secure details of the access and highway 
accommodation works. 
 
Parking  
 
The extant scheme included 287 vehicle parking spaces. This revised scheme 
provides a total of 244 spaces, including 9 parent and child spaces at the proposed 
food store and 14 disabled bays. This represents an overall reduction of 43 

Page 52



 

spaces. However, having regard to the significant decrease in non-food retail and 
overall quantum of B8 floor space, the minor increase in drive thru floor area and 
the addition of a gym (which only results in a requirement for 21 parking spaces 
based on SCC’s standards), the revised parking provision is considered 
acceptable. 
 
On site cycle parking includes 24 Sheffield standard parking stands (48 spaces) 
the applicants have also agreed to provide some no standard cycle parking spaces 
to accommodate trolley cycles etc. 
 
14 electrical vehicle parking spaces are proposed which will have access to 7 
electrical vehicle charging points. 
 
The loss and displacement of the occasional match day car parking that currently 
occurs on the site is likely to cause a ripple effect in terms of where on-street 
parking occurs.  It is considered that if current on-street parking restrictions are 
observed, this displacement should not create significant issues.  Vere Road, 
Fielding Road and Bickerton Road were left out of the Hillsborough Parking Permit 
scheme because, when consulted, the majority of residents wanted to be excluded 
from the scheme.  The residents also delivered a similar verdict when offered a 
match-day permit parking scheme. 
 
Cycling  
 
The Upper Don Valley cycle route (NCN627) passes, off-carriageway, across the 
A61 development site frontage.  It runs from the City Centre, out along Clay 
Wheels Lane, through Oughtibridge, Wharncliffe Side, Deepcar and Stocksbridge.  
Across the site frontage it is a shared pedestrian/cycle route varying in width 
between approximately 3 and 3.5 metres.  This frontage currently has three 
vehicular accesses, with no planning restrictions on hours or intensity of use.  The 
development proposal would close these accesses and create one new vehicular 
access allowing traffic to turn left in from the A61 and re-join turning left out.  
During the consideration of this application the access from the A61 has been 
redesigned as a continuous cycle-footway, prioritising walking and cycling over 
vehicles. The access will however need to be audited to avoid creating a false 
sense of safety. It is considered that the consolidation of the three accesses into 
one and the redesigned junction priority offers immediate benefits to the 
pedestrian/cycle route.    
 
The existing shared pedestrian/cycle facility alongside Penistone Road will be 
widened to 4 metres over much of its length between Herries Road and Herries 
Road South.  It will be resurfaced, and the lighting columns repositioned to the rear 
of the route.  The existing block paving which vehicles tend to park on (bouncing 
over the cycle route in the process) will be landscaped, incorporating a timber 
knee-rail, or similar enclosure.  This will prevent cars and mobile trading vans 
parking off carriageway on this part of the frontage.  There currently is not the 
space available to provide a signalised crossing for pedestrians/cyclists at Herries 
Road South.  For this reason, it was not provided when the off-carriageway shared 
pedestrian/cycle route was constructed in 2015 and does not form part of the 
extant planning consent. 

Page 53



 

 
The vacant garage premises on the corner of Penistone Road and Herries Road 
South remains outside the application site and is not currently available for re-
development. 
 
A preliminary highway design has been worked up that provides extra lanes at the 
A61 Penistone Road/Herries Road South junction to improve capacity, that 
provides a signalised crossing for pedestrians/cyclists and off-carriageway 
segregated cycle paths along the three sides of the development site. As with the 
previous scheme the applicant has agreed to accept a ‘highway improvement line’ 
which is indicated on the approved plans.  When the garage site becomes 
available for re-development, it is intended that no built development will occur in 
front of the highway improvement line.   
 
When the Council has secured funding to implement the scheme (which currently 
is not justified in planning terms on the back of the extant or this proposed 
development) the land required to accommodate it will be dedicated to the Council 
at no cost (baring legal costs).  As with the previous scheme, a condition is 
recommended to secure this provision. The proposed development would not 
prevent delivery of the highway scheme, although some of the car parking and 
landscaping within the site may need to be modified slightly. 
 
Consideration has been given to the provision of off-road cycle facilities along 
Herries Road.  Owing to width constraints imposed by the TPO’d woodland at the 
northern end and the restricted width of the footway, combined with the bus lay-by, 
it is not possible to provide a continuous link through to the A61 without the loss of 
woodland.   
 
However, to allow for the possibility of future widening and delivery of an 
appropriate cycle route, a highway improvement line has been accepted by the 
developer. 
If delivered, a future cycle route along Herries Road would need to form part of a 
wider strategic route being promoted by the City Council as part of their Transport 
Strategy.  To ensure that the cycle route is safe and continuous, it would need to 
connect to the rest of the cycle route via a new crossing facility (such as a Toucan 
crossing) on Herries Road South together with a new link towards the Five Arches 
bridge. It remains the case that requiring the developer to provide this link would be 
disproportionate, in both extent and cost, to the impact of the proposed 
development and so cannot be justified. 
 
Moreover, providing a cycle route solely along the Herries Road site frontage 
without the continuous links and the crossing facility needed by cyclists to 
negotiate Herries Road and its junction with Herries Road South, raises significant 
highway safety concerns. 
 
As with the previous scheme the applicant has agreed to improvements to the 
shared pedestrian/cycle route along Penistone Road and to dedicate land on the 
fringes of the development to the Council so that the Council is able to 
comprehensively upgrade the off-road cycle facilities if and when funding has been 
secured. 

Page 54



 

 
The other vehicular accesses to the site off Herries Road and Herries Road South 
will be made as pedestrian friendly as possible. Neither road currently carries an 
off-carriageway cycle route. LTN 1/20 advises against unsafe gaps. Given the low 
level of cycle activity generated by the development there is no justification for 
seeking further improvements.   
 
The Council’s Highway Section have advised that this revised scheme remains 
acceptable. It continues to deliver the commitments made by the developer under 
the previous scheme, delivers some immediate benefits at the junction with the 
A61 including increased pedestrian and cycle priority, it reduces the impact on the 
operation of the adjoining network when compared to the previous scheme and 
continues to afford strategic cycling improvements should funding become 
available in the future.   
 
Construction related traffic  
 
The applicants have provided a site logistics plans and information on how the 
wheels of construction vehicles will be washed and debris will be prevented from 
being tracked out on to the adjoining highways during the construction phase.  
Construction vehicles will access the site from Herries Road, with site workers and 
office related staff using the newly created junctions on Herries Road South and 
Penistone Road (exit only). 
 
These details are acceptable and will be secured by condition. 
 
Travel Plan 
 
The applicants have submitted a Travel Plan it includes a series of measures 
designed to: 
 

- reduce the number of vehicles travelling to and from the site 
- increase opportunities for staff to use more sustainable modes of transport 
- reduce the overall transport impact of the development upon the 

environment 
- promote more sustainable ways of travelling; all in support of local and 

national policy aims of managing travel demand more effectively 
 
The plan sets a framework for individual occupiers of the development to work 
within in producing their own individual plans, it also includes effective 
arrangements for monitoring the performance of the plan (s) and revising of its 
objectives should this be necessary. The Council’s Highways section consider the 
travel plan to be acceptable. 
 
Taking account of the above there are no highway objections to the revised 
scheme subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions.  
 
Air Quality 
 
The site is located within the Sheffield city-wide Air Quality Management Area for 

Page 55



 

exceedances of nitrogen dioxide and particulate matter. 
 
Paragraph 186 of the Framework states that planning decisions should sustain and 
contribute towards compliance with relevant limit values or national objectives for 
pollutants, taking account of Air Quality Management Areas (AQMA’s) and 
cumulative impacts of other developments. Opportunities to improve air quality or 
mitigate impacts such as through traffic and travel management as well as green 
infrastructure and enhancement should be identified. Decisions should be 
consistent with the local air quality action plan.  
 
Paragraph 174 (e) identifies that new and existing development should not 
contribute to or be adversely affected by unacceptable levels of air pollution and 
should help to improve local environmental conditions such as air quality. 
 
Policy CS66 requires action to be taken to protect air quality particularly where 
residents in road corridors with high levels of traffic are directly exposed to levels of 
pollution above national targets. Policy GE23 of the UDP identifies that 
development will be permitted only where it would not locate sensitive uses where 
they would be adversely affected by sources of air pollution. These policies align 
with the Frameworks aim of reducing and mitigating the impacts of development on 
air quality and are therefore afforded weight. 
 
An air quality assessment was submitted with the previous application and has 
been updated to reflect the revisions to the scheme. The report considers 
development impacts on annual mean levels of nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and 
particulate matter (PM10 and PM2.5) concentrations at receptor locations around 
the site including alongside existing dwellings on Penistone Road. 
 
For the construction phase dust mitigation measures are recommended to reduce 
the effects of dust including water suppression during demolition operations. 
Consistent with the approved scheme the operational phase of the development 
assessment concludes that concentrations of NO2, PM10 and PM2.5 remain below 
the air quality objectives/target values.  The impact of the development is predicted 
to be negligible (1% or less change) at all the local receptors.  The report includes 
a series of mitigation measures that could include provision of low NO2 boilers, 
implementation of a green travel plan and provision of electric vehicle charging 
points which are secured by condition. 
 
The air quality effects are therefore not considered to be significant and the 
proposal complies with Core Strategy Policy CS66, UDP Policies GE22 and GE23 
and the Framework. 
 
Ecology 
 
UDP Policy GE11 seeks to protect the natural environment and UDP Policy GE15 
seeks to encourage and protect trees and woodland.  UDP Policy GE17 seeks to 
protect and enhance streams and rivers. 
 
These policies strongly align with the NPPF (paragraph 174), which states that 
planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and 

Page 56



 

local environment by, amongst other measures, minimising impacts on and 
providing net gains for biodiversity including by establishing coherent ecological 
networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures. 
 
This brownfield site is largely covered by foundation hardstanding of demolished 
industrial buildings and existing commercial premises. The north of the site is 
predominantly woodland that is traversed by a small watercourse. 
 
The preliminary ecological assessment (PEA) submitted with the previous 
application (dated October 2018) did not identify any specific habitats or ecological 
constraints to development. There is some limited commuting and foraging 
potential for bats, however, impacts from the development are determined as low 
to negligible. Nesting opportunities for birds are available in the woodland to the 
north although none were recorded. Some historic evidence of badgers was noted 
within the woodland, however there is no current activity and standard precautions 
are recommended to mitigate affects from construction activity. 
 
The applicant has updated the PEA following a site walkover in early 2021. The 
PEA identifies that there has been no significant change in the site’s ecological 
status since 2018.  
 
In line with the recommendations of the 2018 PEA the 7 buildings identified for 
demolition have been the subject of a further bat survey. No roosts or signs of bat 
activity were recorded in any of the buildings. 
 
The demolition of 4 of the 7 buildings is not considered to have any impact on 
roosting bats. Building 3 - a disused retail unit which fronts Herries Road; and 
Building 7 - an operational electricity substation; are identified as having negligible 
potential to support roosting bats. Building 2 – a two storey brick built commercial 
building with an attached single garage has moderate potential to support roosting 
bats.  
 
Building 2 is in a good condition, it does however have a missing ridge tile and a 
couple of dislodged slates around the eaves of the single storey garage. The 
accessible loft spaces were searched, and no historic or recent bat activity was 
detected.  
 
Building 3 was found to be in a good condition, a small void was identified under 
the soffit and in the northern elevation. An endoscope inspection did not identify 
any signs of bats. 
 
Building 7 was not inspected internally as its an active substation. Vents in the side 
elevation are mesh lined preventing access by bats, voids around the door could 
however allow bats to access the structure. 
 
As the above three buildings were not fully accessible at the time survey, and in 
order to rule out the potential for bats to have taken up roost in either buildings 2, 3 
or 7 in the intervening period between carrying out the bat survey and the 
demolition of the structures, further pre demolition surveys are required (secured 
by condition) in accordance with the Bat Conservation Trust Good Practice 

Page 57



 

Guidelines (2016). 
 
To protect nesting birds’ during the peak nesting season, demolition should be 
avoided between March to September, or a pre-demolition check carried out (by a 
suitably experienced surveyor) to identify if species that can nest all year round are 
present. Details will be secured by condition.  
 
A series of mitigation measures including providing bat roosting and bird nesting 
opportunities are proposed, lighting will need to be sensitively designed to mitigate 
effects on the adjoining woodland, a wildlife refuge and woodpile provided in the 
adjoining woodland, and site fencing designed to allow badgers and other small 
mammals to navigate across the site. 
 
The Land and Ecological Masterplan (LEMP) conditioned as part of the previous 
consent has been submitted for consideration as part of this application. It includes 
appropriate long-term management (5 years) proposals for the site and adjoining 
woodland and is therefore acceptable. The development will be conditioned to be 
carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the LEMP. 
 
Over 50 new extra heavy standard trees, along with native hedgerows and other 
ornamental landscaping are to be planted which will enhance the biodiversity and 
appearance of the site. 
 
Subject to the imposition of the various conditions identified above the 
development is acceptable from an ecology perspective. 
 
Amenity Issues 
 
UDP Policy IB9 relating to conditions on development in industry and business 
areas also includes criteria (b) which seeks to ensure that new development or 
change of use will not cause residents to suffer from unacceptable living 
conditions. 
 
Paragraph 130 (f) of The Framework identifies that development should create 
places with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users. Development 
should also be appropriate for its location taking account of the effects of pollution 
on health and living conditions, as well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the 
wider area to impacts that could arise from the development (paragraph 185).    
 
Policy IB9 (b) aligns with the Framework and so is given significant weight. 
 
The development is separated from the closest residential properties by the dual 
Penistone Road. Most of the proposed units are set well back within the site except 
for the drive thru restaurants which are located adjacent to Penistone Road. 
 
The development will increase the volumes of traffic entering the site and there will 
be increased noise associated with vehicle movements and the serving and 
operation of the units proposed. 
 
Throughout the day and into the early evening background noise levels in the area 

Page 58



 

are already high. A revised noise survey, which takes account of the proposed 
changes to the scheme, has been submitted. The outcomes and conclusions are 
very similar (near identical) to those reported previously. Occupants of the closest 
residential properties to the site would not be harmfully affected, subject to 
conditions controlling business servicing hours, use of reversing alarms (forklift 
trucks and commercial vehicles), external amplified sound, cooking odours and the 
operation of plant and equipment. 
 
The applicant has submitted a Construction and Environment Management Plan 
with this application. As amended, the Council’s Environmental Protection Service 
considers the Plan acceptable to manage noise, dust and other pollution risks 
arising from the construction phases of the development. 
 
The development is not considered to give rise to any amenity issues and in this 
regard complies with the relevant national and local planning requirements. 
 
Sustainability 
 
Framework Paragraph 157 confirms new development should comply with 
development plan policies for decentralised energy supply unless it is not feasible 
or viable having regard to the type and design of development proposed. 
Landform, layout, building orientation, massing and landscaping should also be 
taken into account to minimise energy consumption. 
 
Policies CS63, 64 and 65 of the Core Strategy, as well as the Climate Change and 
Design Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), set out the Council’s approach 
to securing sustainable development.   
 
Policy CS63 gives priority to developments that are well served by sustainable 
forms of transport, that increase energy efficiency, reduce energy consumption, 
carbon emissions and that generate renewable energy. 
 
A series of actions to reduce the city’s impact on climate change are identified by 
Policy CS64. Specifically, it requires commercial developments of 500m2 or more 
to achieve BREEAM very good and provide 10% of their predicted energy needs 
from a decentralised and renewable or low carbon energy source. An equivalent 
10% reduction in a development’s energy needs from a fabric first is also 
acceptable. 
 
Securing sustainable development is a key theme of the Framework these local 
policies therefore continue to be afforded substantial weight.  
 
This site is under used, previously developed land. It is in an established urban 
area that is near established residential properties and other commercial uses that 
will use its services. It is also accessible by a choice of different transport modes. 
Principally the site is sustainably located. 
 
Most of the buildings proposed, except for the drive thru restaurants, are generally 
large format commercial buildings which from a construction and viability 
perspective do not lend themselves to incorporation of green roofs. A series of 

Page 59



 

green walls are however incorporated into several of the more prominent buildings. 
These features will enhance the appearance and biodiversity of the site and 
contribute towards improving air quality.  
 
Air source heath pumps will provide mixed cooling and space heating for some of 
the buildings. Some of the larger format warehouse type buildings will 
accommodate solar photovoltaic arrays.  
 
The applicant’s sustainability statement demonstrates that between 21% and 48% 
of the energy demands of 7 of the 9 buildings proposed will be provided by 
renewable or low carbon technology. Policy CS64 imposes a site wide energy 
reduction requirement and the applicant has demonstrated that the requirement 
will be substantially exceeded.  
 
The proposal is considered acceptable from a sustainability perspective. 
 
Flood Risk and Drainage 
 
Core Strategy Policy CS67 relating to flood risk management seeks to reduce the 
extent and impact of flooding. 
 
The Framework seeks to direct development away from areas at high risk of 
flooding. Where development in such areas is deemed necessary it should be 
made safe for its lifetime without increasing flood risk elsewhere.  
 
Where appropriate applications should be supported by a Flood Risk Assessment 
(FRA) and considered against the sequential and exception tests set out in 
Framework paragraph 161 to 166.  
 
Framework paragraph 169 requires major development to incorporate sustainable 
drainage systems unless there is clear evidence that this would be inappropriate, 
taking account of the advice of the Lead Local Flood Authority. 
 
The Environment Agency’s Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Map identifies that 
the site is at risk of river and surface water flooding. Most of the site is in flood 
zone 2 where there is a medium risk river flooding, except for the woodland to the 
north, and a parcel of land towards the south-eastern of the site, adjacent to 
Herries Road.  
 
Most of the site is at a high and medium risk from surface water flooding, except 
for a narrow tract of land that runs north to south through the centre of the site. 
 
A flooding sequential test, which seeks to steer new development to areas of a 
lower probability of flooding, is required for development located in Flood Zone 2. 
Consistent with the previous application, there are not considered to be any 
reasonably available sites appropriate for the proposed development in areas at a 
lower risk of flooding.  From a flood risk perspective, the uses within the scheme 
are categorised as ‘less vulnerable’ which are considered compatible with flood 
zones 1, 2 and 3a. 
 

Page 60



 

Flood mitigation measures in the form of raised floor/ground levels and the 
implementation of a flood warning plan are considered acceptable to mitigate flood 
risk. 
 
Underlying ground conditions are not considered suitable for surface water 
infiltration. Surface water is therefore proposed to be discharged, via attenuation 
tank and a flow control device, into the 900 mm culverted watercourse that crosses 
the site. Discharge will be attenuated to a brownfield rate less 30%, with provision 
for attenuation storage for events up to the 1 in 100 years plus climate change. 
The exact details of which will be secured by condition. 
 
Yorkshire Water has no objection to the scheme provided an existing water main 
within the site is protected during construction. Since the previous application 
additional work has been undertaken to establish the exact position and depth of 
the water main the protection of which can be secured by condition. 
 
Conditions will ensure existing infrastructure is protected, surface water discharge 
is managed and reduced, and flood risks mitigated. As with the previous scheme 
the proposal is considered acceptable from a flooding and drainage perspective. 
 
Land Contamination 
 
The NPPF (paragraph 183) requires a site to be suitable for its intended use taking 
account of ground conditions, land instability, contamination, natural hazards 
and/or previous activities such as mining. 
 
A series of conditions were imposed on the previous consent to mitigate impacts 
from ground contamination. Further intrusive site investigation work has been 
carried out and a Phase II site investigation report accompanies this application. 
 
The Council’s Environmental Protection Service confirms that the report is 
satisfactory. A site remediation strategy and subsequent validation report are still 
required and can be secured by condition. Subject to the above users of the site 
will not be harmed by historic contamination.  
 
Community Infrastructure levy (CIL) 
 
The retail elements of the scheme are subject to a CIL charge of £60 per sq. m of 
gross internal floorspace plus an additional charge associated with the national All-
in Tender Price Index for the calendar year in which planning permission is 
granted, in accordance with Schedule 1 of ‘The Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations 2010.’ 
 
The funds generated through CIL will be used in connection with strategic 
infrastructure projects. 
 
Other issues 
 
The applicant has agreed to the imposition of a condition to secure training and 
employment benefits as part of the construction and operational phases of the 

Page 61



 

scheme which is welcomed.  
 
RESPONSE TO REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Objections have identified that not enough weight has been given to the 
Government document entitled: Sustainable & Active Travel, Cycle Design 
Standard LTN 1/20, which was published in July 2020 after the granting of 
application ref: 19/00037/FUL.  
 
LTN 1/20 offers guidance to Local Authorities on designing high-quality, safe 
cycling infrastructure. The document covers segregation from motorised traffic, 
measures for cyclists at junctions and roundabouts, and updated guidance on 
crossings, signal design and associated signs and road markings. LTN 1/20 states 
that substandard provision is worse than doing nothing, enticing cyclists into 
thinking they’re protected, only to abandon them sometimes in critical/unsafe 
locations. 
 
The Department for Transport (DfT) and Sheffield City Region require compliance 
with LTN 1/20 before releasing funding for new highway schemes. All proposed 
schemes are now checked by the inspectorate against the LTN 1/20 summary 
principles before funding is agreed. Finished schemes are/will be inspected to 
ensure delivery. Failure to deliver could result in funding needing to be returned to 
the DfT. 
 
It is the view of highway officers that developments should aspire as much as 
possible to the guiding principles of LTN 1/20, though in most instances, there is no 
DfT or Sheffield City Region input. 
 
The other issues raised are covered in the main body of the report. 
 
Planning Balance 
 
The site lies mostly within a Fringe Industry and Business Area as defined in the 
UDP.  Policy IB6 of the UDP is not consistent with the thrust of the Framework as it 
places an embargo on retail development that is not in or at the edge of a local 
centre (for appropriately sized food stores) or other out of centre locations, other 
than in a Retail Park or in Meadowhall.  The Framework allows such development 
subject to the sequential and impact test requirements (paragraphs 86 to 90). 
 
Policy S5 (District and Local Shopping Areas) is not reflective of the sequential and 
impact tests in the Framework and NPPG. Policy S5 also requires consideration of 
cumulative impacts; the Framework is silent on this matter. The local planning 
authority is mindful that the cumulative impacts are a material consideration.   
The remainder of adopted local plan policies, which are the most important for 
determining this application, when considered as a ‘basket’ of policies, still closely 
align with the Framework. 
 
However, in light of the more up to date guidance in the Framework, Policies IB6 
and S5, which are two of the most important local policies relevant to the 
consideration of this scheme, can be afforded little weight. As a consequence, the 

Page 62



 

‘tilted balance’ in paragraph 11 of the Framework is considered to be engaged and 
so the positive and negative elements of the proposed development (planning 
balance) must be considered. The application of the planning balance is a matter 
of judgement for the decision maker. 
 
Paragraph 8 of the Framework states that, in achieving sustainable development, 
the planning system has three overarching objectives: economic; social; and 
environmental. 
 
In pursuing an economic objective, the proposed development offers the following 
benefits: 
 

- promotes inward investment to the area 
- brings forward development on an underused previously developed site in a 

location that is easily accessible 
- provides new industrial and business units, and opportunities for businesses 

to relocate from unsuitable premises elsewhere 
- Economic benefits relating to construction value, GVA, business rates 

income and increased expenditure in the area to the benefit of the local 
economy 

- Job creation - short term construction phase employment and long-term 
employment during the operational phase of the development (including 
promoting local employment opportunities and training) 

- provides contributions towards infrastructure improvements via the 
community infrastructure levy charge 
 

Conversely there are also some negative elements of the development namely: 
 

- some of the employment provided, particularly in the retail sector, may be a 
combination of new jobs and jobs transferred from elsewhere 

- the proposal will impact (although to a lesser extent than the extant 
permission) on the Hillsborough District Centre (although not to the extent 
that it would cause significant adverse impact) and the Catch Bar Lane and 
Halifax Road Local Centres 

- the proposal would result in the loss of some of the site to non-industrial and 
business uses (but would not jeopardise the supply of land for employment 
uses) 
 

In pursuing a social objective, the proposed development would: 
 
- provide safe access to and from the site for staff, customers and visitors 
- provide accessible buildings for all users 
- provide cycle access and safeguard land for future cycle schemes 
- not significantly impact on air quality during the operational and construction 

phases, and 
- not harm the living conditions of residents in the locality and 
- provide access to electrical car charging facilities 

 
However: 
 

Page 63



 

- there would be an increase in traffic movement on nearby roads, although 
less than the extant planning permission 

- there would be a risk of dust during the demolition and construction phases 
of the development (although with a condition to mitigate the risk from dust it 
is not a significant impact), and 

- the proposal would displace some existing temporary car parking from the 
site 
 

In pursuing an environmental objective, the proposed development would: 
 

- regenerate an underused brownfield site 
- make a positive contribution to the appearance of the visual amenities of the 

area 
- provide soft landscaping within the development 
- provide green vegetated walls 
- incorporate measures to reduce energy demand 
- remediate land contamination by historic use 
- secure ecological enhancements and long-term management and 

maintenance of the TPO’s woodland within the site; and 
- reduce surface water discharge from the site and subsequent pressure on 

drainage infrastructure 
 

However: 
 

- the proposal would result in the loss of existing trees within the developable 
part of the site (although substantial replacement tree planting and 
landscaping is proposed and the TPO’d wooded area at the northern end of 
the site would be retained) 
 

While the High Court Judgement (Aldergate/Mansfield) makes it clear that even 
out-of-date policies remain part of the development plan, and that any decision is 
required to assess whether the proposal accords with it, as the starting point, it is 
considered that the benefits of the proposal highlighted above significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the minor adverse impacts of the proposal when assessed 
against the Development Plan and the policies in the Framework taken as a whole. 
 
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION 
 
This application relates to a 4.9 hectare site located between Herries Road, 
Penistone Road and Herries Road South. The principle of redeveloping the site for 
a commercial led mixed-use scheme was established in January 2020 following 
the grant of application ref: 19/00037/FUL which remains extant. 
 
This scheme is a resubmission of application ref: 19/00037/FUL and includes 
various amendment to the approved scheme including: 
 

- A reduction in the number of units from 14 to 9 
- Overall development floorspace reduced from 11,682m2 to 9,728m2 and 

dedicated retail floor space reduced from 3,199m2 to 1,899m2 

Page 64



 

- Replacement of two of the three previously approved retail units with a gym 
and a commercial B8 unit 

- Various amendments to the layout of the site and design of buildings to 
accommodate the operational requirements of proposed end users 

 
Consistent with the extant permission, preferred uses with this Fringe Industry and 
Business Area would remain dominant. 
 
The proposed use class B2 (car repair), B8 (storage and distribution), Builders’ 
yard (sui generis) and food and drink uses (now class E) comply with UDP Policy 
IB6 ‘Development in Fringe Industry and Business Areas’. However, as the 
scheme continues to include new out-of-centre retail development, all be it 
significantly less than the extant permission, and the retail unit is not ‘small scale’ 
in accordance with the definitions in the UDP, the scheme does not fully satisfy 
UDP Policies IB6 and S5. 
 
However as confirmed under the previous application UDP Policies IB6 and S5 are 
not fully up to date and are no longer consistent with the Framework as they do not 
reflect the sequential and impact tests set out in Framework paragraphs 87 to 91. 
IB6 and S5 therefore carry significantly less weight in the determination of this 
application. 
 
This revised scheme is considered to have passed the Framework’s retail 
sequential test. Under the previous application the impact test concluded that the 
only centres likely to suffer from significant adverse impacts were Catch Bar Lane 
and Halifax Road Local Centres. Impacts on those Local Centres, and other 
centres are reduced following the removal of two of the previously approved retail 
units from this revised scheme.  
 
As Policy S5 is not up-to date, the local planning authority is entitled, having 
considered S5, to give it less weight and concluded that the significant adverse 
impacts on Catch Bar Lane and Halifax Road are not determinative. Again, this 
position reflects the stance taken on the extant permission. 
 
Cumulative impacts of a development are still a material consideration, however 
consistent with the stance taken on the extant permission a refusal on the grounds 
of cumulative impact (including the proposal, Lidl at Malin Bridge and Jack’s) on 
Local Centres cannot be justified. 
 
When considered on its own or alongside the schemes highlighted in the preceding 
paragraph, it remains your officers’ position in relation to this revised scheme that a 
refusal of planning permission based on the impacts on any District or Local 
Centres in the catchment is not justified. Impacts of this revised scheme are 
reduced, when compared to the extant permission, as significantly less retail 
floorspace is now proposed. 
 
Consistent with the previous approval, this revised application (subject to 
appropriate conditions) will not result in any significant adverse impact on existing, 
committed and planned investment in centre(s) in the catchment area of the 
proposal and is considered to be acceptable. 

Page 65



 

 
The proposal would not significantly harm the living conditions of nearby residents 
subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions. 
 
The revised layout, scale and massing of the proposed buildings and the 
contemporary design approach is acceptable. The revised scheme will make a 
positive contribution to the appearance of the locality and the visual amenities of 
the locality. 
 
The highway impacts of the extant permission were extensively modelled, 
scrutinised, and found to be acceptable. This revised scheme generates fewer 
vehicles movements and as such will not detrimentally affect the safe and efficient 
operation of the highway network. It remains the case that the requests from 
objectors for the developer to provide extensive cycling infrastructure is 
disproportionate to the impact of the proposed development, in both extent and 
cost and cannot be justified. 
 
Notwithstanding the above, some improvements to the new junction with Penistone 
Road (A61) have been made as part of this revised scheme, which (subject to a 
road safety audit) will increase pedestrian and cycling priority. Consistent with the 
previous scheme the applicant has maintained the ‘highways improvement line’ 
that will allow the Council to make improvements to cycling infrastructure should 
funding be made available in the future.  
 
No severe residual cumulative impacts on the road network will occur. 
The main woodland belt towards the north and north-east boundaries of the site, 
which is protected by TPO, will remain. The limited loss of trees from the remainder 
of the site will be compensated for within the development through the provision of 
new landscaping and tree planting.    
 
Appropriate conditions are recommended to secure remediation of the site, 
sustainability measures, drainage, and flood risk measures. 
 
As with the extant permission the proposal complies with the relevant local 
planning policies which continue to carry weight and those of the Framework. For 
the reasons identified above the development does not give rise to any adverse 
impacts which would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the 
development when assessed against the policies of the Development Plan and 
Framework when taken as a whole. 
 
It is therefore recommended that planning permission is granted subject to the 
listed conditions. 
 
 

Page 66



 

 
Case Number 

 
21/00418/FUL (Formerly PP-09384476) 
 

Application Type Full Planning Application 
 

Proposal Use of office building as a studio for after school arts 
classes 
 

Location Very Much So Productions 
8 Stretton Road 
Sheffield 
S11 8UQ 
 

Date Received 29/01/2021 
 

Team South 
 

Applicant/Agent Mr Barry Pearson 
 

Recommendation Refuse 
 

 
    
Refuse for the following reason(s): 
 
1 The Local Planning Authority considers that the proposed development 

would be detrimental to the amenities and living conditions of nearby 
residents at 190 Psalter Lane owing to noise, loss of privacy and general 
disturbance which would be generated by the use of the building for the 
purpose of a children's after-school club and holiday child-care club. The 
proposal is therefore contrary to Policy H14 of the Unitary Development 
Plan, and paragraph 130 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
2 The Local Planning Authority considers that the use of the building as a 

children's after-school club and holiday child-care club would be unsuitable 
for use by people with disabilities (particularly people using wheelchairs and 
or with ambulant mobility issues) and therefore would be contrary to Policies 
BE5 and BE7 of the Sheffield Unitary Development Plan and para 130 f) of 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
Attention is Drawn to the Following Directives: 
 
1. The applicant is advised that this application is being recommended for 

refusal for the reasons stated above and taking into account the following 
plans, drawings and details:- 

  
 Drawing no.001 (Site Layout Plan), as published on the 12th April 2021 
 Drawing no.002 (Proposed Ground and First Floor Layout Plan), as 

published on the 12th April 2021 

Page 67

Agenda Item 7b



 

 Site Location Plans, as published on the 1st April 2021 
 The additional correspondence from the applicant, as received on the 14th 

July 2021 and published on the 26th August 2021 
 
2. Despite the Local Planning Authority wishing to work with the applicant in a 

positive and proactive manner, the application is considered contrary to 
policy requirement(s), and, there being no perceived amendment(s) that 
would address these shortcomings without compromising the fundamental 
intention of the scheme the Local Planning Authority had no alternative but 
to refuse consent. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 68



 

Site Location 
 

 
© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 10018816 

Page 69



 

 
INTRODUCTION 
 
This application relates to an existing two-storey stone-built former coach house 
located on Stretton Road (a short road that links Penrhyn Road to Psalter Lane). 
The former coach house building along with no 6 Stretton Road, a recently 
constructed dwelling, are the only two properties that front onto Stretton Road. The 
application property would originally have been the coach house/outbuilding for the 
dwelling at 190 Psalter Lane. The coach-house building and no.190 Psalter Lane 
are now separate planning units and have been for many years. 
 
The application site comprises of the building, a side courtyard area and a rear 
access/walkway that allows pedestrian access from the rear of the building to the 
side courtyard area and out of the site via an existing gate within the 2.2 metre high 
boundary wall fronting Stretton Road. The building has ground and first-floor rear 
facing windows and a ground floor rear access door facing towards the rear garden 
of 190 Psalter Lane. The building also has a first-floor access door on the exposed 
gable end of the building but there are no access steps that lead to or from that 
access door. On the front elevation of the building (facing Stretton Road) there are 
what appear to be 2 ground-floor garage door openings that have been infilled with 
timber framed windows, an entrance door and 2 first-floor level windows. Because 
of the sloping nature of Stretton Road, the existing entrance at the front of the 
application building has a stepped access 
 
The application site has no provision for off-street car parking and there is no 
complete segregation in terms of boundary treatment between the site and the 
closest neighbouring property at 190 Psalter Lane (there only being a partial 2.2 
metre high timber screen fence segregating the back of the building and the rear 
garden of 190 Psalter Lane).  
 
The property is currently vacant but has previously been in use as an office (both a 
small architect’s office and, as a business office in connection with a window 
installation company). The existing use is therefore the old Class B1(a) Use 
(business office) which now falls within the more general Class E Use. 
 
The immediate area is predominantly residential in character but there are several 
other prominent businesses nearby, these include the Constance Grant Dance 
Centre on the opposite corner (182 Psalter Lane); The Psalter Hotel & Bar (178-
180 Psalter Lane) and The Psalter Lane Nursery (formerly the Montessori Nursery) 
located opposite at the corner of Psalter Lane and Osborne Road.  
 
PROPOSAL 
 
The applicant is proposing to use the application site as an after-school club for art 
and other creative learning activities for children aged between 4 and 14. In 
addition to the after-school club use, the applicant is also proposing use as a 
holiday club (also for children aged 4 -14) during school holidays. 
 
The use of the proposed business would therefore fall within the new Class E(f) 
Use (non-residential creche/day nursey/day centre) with any associated learning 

Page 70



 

being ancillary to the main use. 
 
The proposed after school club would operate between 3pm and 6pm during 
school term time and between 8.15 am and 6.15pm during school holidays. 
Originally the applicant had also stated that the business would operate on 
Saturdays between 1pm and 3pm, however more recent correspondence has 
confirmed that no Saturday classes are now being proposed. The business would 
have approx. 2 – 4 members of staff and approx. 16 – 18 children. In addition to 
the building itself, the applicant has indicated that the courtyard area would be 
used by the children as an outdoor space at lunchtimes.  
 
The applicant is also proposing to repaint the front windows and door and frames 
(colour not as yet known) and to install obscure glazing to the windows at the rear.  
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
Previous and/or relevant planning history for this property/site includes:- 
 
93/00538/FUL – Alterations to building for use as a dwellinghouse. This application 
was conditionally approved in August 1993. 
 
10/02067/FUL – Use of building as a shop (A1 Use Class) and café (A3 Use Class) 
including provision of new shop front. This application was refused (by the 
Planning Committee) in September 2010. The reason given for the refusal was that 
the Local Planning Authority considered that the proposed development would be 
detrimental to the amenities of the locality and to the living conditions of nearby 
residents owing to noise, smells, loss of privacy and general disturbance which 
would be generated by the use of the building for the purpose of a shop and café 
and as such, the proposal was considered to have been contrary to policy H14 of 
the Unitary Development Plan. 
 
10/03501/FUL – Use of building as shop (A1 Use Class) including provision of new 
shop front (re-submission).This application was refused (by the Planning 
Committee) in December 2010. The reason given for the refusal was the Local 
Planning Authority considered that the proposed development would be 
detrimental to the amenities of the locality and to the living conditions of nearby 
residents owing to noise, nuisance and general disturbance which would be 
generated by the use of the building for the purpose of a shop.  The proposal is 
therefore contrary to policy H14 of the Unitary Development Plan. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
This application has resulted in a total of 84 separate representations being 
received. 43 representations (from 31 separate addresses) have raised objections 
to the proposal and, 41 (from 39 separate properties) support the proposal.  
 
Cllr Angela Argenzio has raised an objection to the proposal and is included as one 
of the 43 objections.  
 
The majority of the objections have come from local residents living within close 

Page 71



 

walking distance of the site and, those that have supported the application 
proposal live much further away from the application site (including from areas 
such as Leeds, Louth, Nottingham, Rawmarsh and Holmesfield). The closest 
resident supporting the proposal lives approximately 0.4 miles away from the site. 
 
The neighbour representations have been summarised and are listed below:- 
 
Objections 
 
Traffic/Highway Safety 
 

- The site is located close to a busy crossroad junction in an area where there 
are already high levels of on-street car-parking and reduced visibility. 
Several other uses operating close by lead to high traffic levels coming and 
going to this location. This will add to the congestion problems and highway 
safety issues 
 

- There have already been several accidents and collisions in the area, often 
due to dangerous parking and poor visibility etc 
 

- The site has no provision for off-street car parking, so where will staff and 
parents park their cars?  
 

- Parents will end up parking on Osborne Road resulting in people having to 
cross Psalter Lane close to the dangerous crossroad junction, and there 
needs to be a crossing created at this location 
 

- Parents are unlikely to walk their children to or from the after-school club in 
the same way that they don’t walk their children to or from the existing 
Montessouri nursey and the Constance Grant dance schools, the majority of 
parents pick their children up by car 
 

- Dropping off and/or picking up will have to do so at/or close to a junction 
where there is normally no convenient place to park particularly at times that 
might typically clash with the other nearby uses 

 
Noise/Amenity 
 

- Increased levels of noise and general disturbance issues for nearby 
residents (particularly an issue for neighbouring residents living at 190 
Psalter Lane, where the outside play area is within a metre of the 
neighbour’s rear access door) 

 
- Residents on Stretton Road downwards (towards Hunters Bar) are mainly 

terraced properties and therefore don’t have much scope for off-street car 
parking. Increased demand for those already limited on-street parking 
spaces will create more detriment for existing local residents 
 

- Air pollution in the area has already been rated as poor, this proposal will 
add to the pollution levels in the area, particularly as people sometimes 

Page 72



 

leave their car engines running while another parent takes a child in for the 
drop off 
 

- Dropping children off at the nearby nursery and/or dance studio businesses 
often means parking in front of and blocking-off local resident’s access 
drives or irresponsible parking (i.e. on double yellow lines). Increased levels 
of on-street car-parking means will increase this to the detriment of nearby 
residents 
 

- Past uses of the property have been very low-key with only approx. 3 to 5 
staff/people using the building which is a vast difference to 16 to 18 children 
and up to 4 staff in terms of noise and general disturbance 
 

- The property only has a very small walled garden/amenity area which would 
create access issues with the immediate neighbouring residents 
 

- Having groups of boisterous and loud young people playing around outside 
in their breaks would cause a big disruption in terms of noise and general 
disturbance for residents (particularly those residing immediately next door) 
and particularly in warm summer months 
 

- The proposal would lead to overlooking and loss of privacy issues 
particularly from upper floor windows and also from parents as they come to 
collect or drop or wait for their children 
 

Other Issues 
 

- The outdoor space is multi-level, has steep stairs without handrails and 
unguarded drops – which could raise health and safety issues when used by 
children 
 

- The intended use of the building as an ‘after school club’ is misleading, 
particularly as there is a reference to school holiday activities. These other 
activities would soon become more frequent 
 

Cllr Angela Argenzio has raised the following reasons for objection:- 
 

- Having the after-school club at 8 Stretton Road would have a huge impact 
on local residents, particularly on the residents living at 190 Psalter Lane 
that shares a passageway with the very small garden at the back of 8 
Stretton Road. To gain access to the yard, people would have to pass 
through part of 190 Psalter Lane garden very close to the back door of no 
190 Psalter Lane. 190 would not have any privacy in their rear garden in the 
afternoon and all through the holidays including the summer 
 

- Currently, the property is used as an office and the impact on local residents 
is minimal, especially in the evening 
 

Page 73



 

- Parking is already at a premium, there is a nursery school on the opposite 
side of Psalter Lane, a dance school (with no parking provision) opposite the 
site and a pub further beyond. Psalter Lane has problems with drivers 
speeding and bottlenecks close to the various facilities/schools. A petition 
has been raised to have a crossing at this junction (Osborne Road/Stretton 
Road) on the basis that traffic is so intense making it difficult for people to 
cross the road 
 

- There is no parking available for the users of the proposed club or the 
people delivering the services there. How would parents pick up their 
children? Most will be from out of the area. Many will travel straight from 
work to pick up their children. Parking is already impossible for people living 
nearby, there are too many HMO’s, no residential parking scheme and 
instances of people parking dangerously on these nearby roads (parking on 
double yellow lines, on corners and on footpaths) 
 

 
Non-Planning Considerations 
 

- There are already several other children-based businesses nearby and this 
one is unnecessary 

 
- There is a concern that many of the people that have commented in support 

of the application do not live in the area and therefore don’t have an 
understanding of the traffic problems and issues in this locality. 
 

- Alternative uses would cause less harm 
 

Support 
 

- Kids Art Academy operating from its existing location provides a valuable 
service to the local community providing affordable, extra-curricular learning 
opportunities to children and teaching valuable cooking and creative skills 
 

- Kids Arts Academy have been seeking a permanent space to be able to run 
their after school and holiday clubs for some time. It makes sense for it to be 
situated in the area it serves within easy reach of nearby schools and 
families 
 

- Noise impact will be minimal given the small sizes of the clubs and the 
hours of operation 
 

- Traffic impact will be minimal in contrast to the benefits of having the 
business located here 
 

- The proposed new use would provide an opportunity for new employees to 
gain experience of working with children 
 

- Children work quietly on creative projects, they don’t run around making 
loud noise 

Page 74



 

 
- Now is the time to be supporting the community and small businesses 

 
- Kids Art Academy normally provides a ‘walking bus’ to its venues and 

always encourages parents, many of whom live within walking distance of 
its venues to pick up their children on foot or by public transport 
 

- The proposed facility would provide the children a safe and secure 
environment in which to extend their educational experiences 
 

- Having a permanent base building instead of operating from other facilities 
will benefit the business and user needs 
 

- 8 Stretton Rd is already a commercial property which could easily 
accommodate at least 15 adults on a daily basis. It could be used as an 
office, with 15 staff, all of whom could drive to Stretton Road and leave their 
cars there all day. This proposed change of use would therefore have a 
lesser impact for neighbours 
 

Additional comments from the Applicant in support of the proposal:- 
 

- The Kids Art Academy (KAA) had previously been run from the Hunters Bar 
Infants and Juniors Schools for approx. 12 years. For the past 4 years the 
business has operated from a separate venue on Ecclesall Road due to lack 
of accommodation at the school 
 

- The KAA has always run a walking bus system to the venue. This gives the 
children an opportunity to learn about highway safety and would provide 
exercise for the children as well as reduce traffic levels 
 

- Clifford All Saints C of E Primary School is also within close walking 
distance from Stretton Road and therefore children from that school could 
also be accommodated at Stretton Road. This facility would therefore be 
available for accommodating the children from 3 local schools 
 

- Some of the comments made in support are from staff and parents that 
have first-hand experience of how the business operates and therefore are 
very valid 
 

- During the past 10 years, the KAA have worked with the Sheffield Special-
Needs Inclusion Playcare Service (SNIPS) and the business has 
accommodated children who are on the autistic spectrum 
 

- During school holidays there is generally less traffic around because fewer 
journeys are being made 
 

- There is a mixture of residential and business uses in the area already. No.8 
Stretton Road has been empty for a long time but is currently an established 
business location. No 6 Stretton Road was previously the site of a 
warehouse and was also used as a church school 

Page 75



 

 
- The KAA provides benefits to the community with valuable elements of child 

welfare and education in addition to employment opportunities for young 
people. The KAA track record speaks for itself and the fears of local 
residents are unfounded 

 
PLANNING ASSESSMENT 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
The key consideration to be taken from the NPPF is a 'presumption in favour of 
sustainable development'. The document summarises delivering sustainable 
development as planning for prosperity (economic role), for people (social role), 
and for places (environmental role). 
 
Paragraph 81 of the NPPF states that decisions should help create the conditions 
in which businesses can invest, expand and adapt. Significant weight should be 
placed on the need to support economic growth and productivity, taking into 
account both local business needs and wider opportunities for development.  
 
Paragraph 111 of the NPPF states that developments should only be prevented or 
refused on highway grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway 
safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. 
 
Paragraph 130 of the NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should 
ensure that developments:- 
 

a) Will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the 
short term but over the lifetime of the development; 
 

e) Optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an 
appropriate amount and mix of development (including green and other 
public space) and support local facilities and transport networks; and 
 

f) Create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote 
health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future 
users and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not 
undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience. 
 

Local Policy  
 
As designated in the adopted Sheffield Unitary Development Plan (UDP), the 
application site is located within a Housing Policy Area and is also within the 
Nether Edge Conservation Area.   
 
The most relevant UDP policies to be referred to in considering the merits of the 
application are: 
 
BE5 (Building Design and Siting) 
BE7 (Design of Buildings Used by the Public) 

Page 76



 

H10 (Development in Housing Areas) 
H14 (Conditions on Development in Housing Areas) 
 
Relevant Core Strategy Policies are:  
CS74 Design Principles  
 
Principle of Development 
 
The site is in an allocated Housing Policy Area where use as an after-school art 
and creative learning club – new Use Class E(f) is acceptable in principle, 
however, any such uses would also need to satisfy Policy H14 of the UDP which 
relates specifically to ‘Conditions on Development in Housing Areas’.  
 
Key Issues 
 
The key issues in respect of the proposal relate to the impact of the use of the 
building as a children’s after-school club/holiday club on the living conditions of 
existing surrounding neighbours; on the local highway network; and ensuring that 
as the building will be used by members of the public, it will be fully accessible.      
 
Impact on Residents’ Living Conditions 
 
Policy H14 of the Sheffield UDP states that the amenity of adjoining neighbours 
should not be harmed by planning proposals. There have been 2 previous 
proposals (in 2010) for the building to be used for both a café and/or as a retail 
shop which were both rejected by City Council because of the adverse impact that 
would be caused for immediate neighbours. 
 
8 Stretton Road was originally built as an outbuilding in relation to 190 Psalter Lane 
and, through the course of time has become a separate unit in its own right. In 
recent years it is also understood that the building has been used for commercial 
purposes albeit very low key – with low levels of staff numbers and limited 
operational activity.  
 
This proposal would see a new use being introduced that would involve relatively 
high numbers of children and adults (up to 22 in total:- approx. 16 to 18 children 
and between 2 and 4 associated teaching staff) using the building for creative 
learning purposes. The activities would be undertaken at after-school times and 
during school holidays. The main focus would be art-based learning but could also 
include low-level cooking as an ancillary type of activity. 
 
As an afterschool/kids club, there will be occasions (particularly in warm summer 
months) when the children may be brought out into the yard area of the building. 
The applicant has confirmed that the intention would be to allow children to use the 
outside yard space at lunchtimes.    
 
The position of no.190 Psalter Lane and its external spaces are so close to the 
application site that any activities taking place in either the main application 
building and/or the outside yard space would have a significant impact on the living 
conditions of the residents at 190 Psalter Lane. This would be in the form of noise 

Page 77



 

and disturbance and loss of privacy as staff and children use and come and go to 
and from the application building and yard area, which is approx. 1 metre away 
from the rear door and garden of 190 Psalter Lane. As parents’ drop-off and pick 
up their children, there is also the potential for parents to gather and wait in the 
yard area (accessed via the gate off Stretton Road) which could also exacerbate 
the noise, privacy and general disturbance issues for the immediate neighbours. 
 
The proposed scheme shows that there would be some new 2m high fencing 
erected to segregate the yard area from the rear garden of no.190 Psalter Lane. 
Any such fencing would be within very close proximity (approx. 1 to 1.5 metres 
away) of rear facing windows and doors of no.190 Psalter Lane and would 
therefore create a sense of being boxed in at close range.  
 
Although existing, there would be clear views from the outside space of the after-
school club building facing directly onto large full height windows at the rear of no 
190 Psalter Lane at very close range (2 to 3 metres) and therefore irrespective of 
any new 2 m high fence, there would be instances of loss of privacy between the 
two buildings. The intensive nature of the use of the building with more daily 
comings and goings of children, parents and staff means that there would be a 
higher likelihood of both loss of privacy and noise impact affecting the residents of 
190 Psalter Lane.  
  
The windows on the rear elevation of the application building are currently clear 
glazed and, the applicant has stated these would be made to be obscure glazed. 
Despite an increase in the intensity of the use of the building, the obscure glazing 
would remove the potential for some direct overlooking of 190 Psalter Lane and 
therefore would represent a marginal improvement to the living conditions of the 
immediate neighbour. Despite there still being a perception of being overlooked 
(particularly because of the close range), the obscure glazing would be an 
improvement for the neighbours at 190 Psalter Lane.   
 
Despite some improvement for the neighbouring residents at 190 Psalter Lane, 
officers consider that overall, the proposal would still lead to an increase in 
detrimental harm by way of noise, general disturbance and some loss of privacy for 
the neighbouring residents and as such, the proposal would be in conflict with 
Policy H14 of the Sheffield Unitary Development Plan and also in conflict with 
Paragraph 130 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 
 
Highway Considerations and Car Parking 
 
The proposal is in an accessible location but will generate additional parking 
demand and a requirement for picking up and dropping off of children. The 
Council’s Car Parking Guidelines indicate that for uses similar to the one being 
proposed (nurseries/day nurseries) provision should be made for dropping off and 
picking up children and that there should be 1 space for every 1 to 3 staff on duty. 
There is no provision for any off-street car parking and, no designated location for 
dropping-off or picking-up children. It is also clear that there is a high on-street 
parking problem in the immediate area.  
 
Whilst the proposal will lead to some increased traffic levels coming to and from 

Page 78



 

the site, officers consider that these would in the main be between 3 and 3:30pm 
(drop-off) and up to approx. 6pm (picking up). As such officers consider that the 
after-school element is unlikely to have a significant impact on peak hour traffic 
levels. 
 
With regard to the school holiday sessions, the morning drop off is between 8:15 
and 9am and, whilst this coincides with the morning peak, it should be noted that 
‘school run’ traffic will not generally be present due to the school holidays. As such 
officers consider that the school holiday sessions are not likely to have a significant 
impact on peak hour traffic levels. 
 
Officers acknowledge that on-street parking is an existing problem, as is the build-
up of traffic on surrounding roads. It should also be noted that these problems 
would still remain without this proposed development going ahead. Such limited on 
street availability would encourage use of alternative modes of transport to and 
from the site. 
 
Whilst local residents have raised valid objections in terms of highway safety and 
increased parking in the area, officers have also taken into account the size of the 
building and the limited capacity by users which in turn would limit the number of 
vehicular trips to the site and also, that the applicant has stated that the ‘walking 
bus’ initiative would still be carried out, potentially reducing the likely traffic levels.  
 
As previously mentioned above the NPPF at paragraph 111 states that 
development should only be refused or prevented on highway grounds if there 
would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative 
impacts on the road network would be severe. It cannot reasonably be 
demonstrated that this is the case here, and therefore, despite the wider neighbour 
concerns around highway safety issues, officers are of the opinion that it would be 
unreasonable to refuse this application on highway safety grounds.   
 
Accessibility 
 
Core Strategy policy CS74 (g) ‘Design Principles’ requires development to enable 
all people to gain access safely and conveniently, providing in particular, for the 
needs of families and children, and of disabled people and older people. This is 
echoed in UDP policies H14 ‘Conditions on Development in Housing Areas’ and 
BE5 ‘Building Design and Siting’ which require good design in keeping with the 
scale and character of the surrounding area and, in terms of user requirements, 
that design should meet the needs of users, particularly people with disabilities, 
people with children and women. 
 
Policy BE7 of the UDP expects all buildings that are to be used by members of the 
public to make provision for use by disabled persons, including safe and easy 
access to the building. 
 
Although the proposals don’t involve many changes to the external elevations of 
the building, officers do have some concerns about the nature of the use and its 
suitability as a teaching/learning environment with public access. The existing front 
entrance into the building is both narrow and stepped and, gaining access into the 

Page 79



 

building from the rear would involve having to overcome 2 sets of steps of 3 and 4 
steps.  
 
In this respect therefore gaining access into the building for anyone with disabilities 
would be extremely difficult and even once in the building access would only be 
available to the ground floor. In overall design terms therefore and being user-
friendly, officers consider that building would not be suitable for use by disabled 
users and would therefore be in conflict with UDP Policies BE5(i) and BE7(a) and 
(c).  
 
SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATION 
 
The application seeks planning permission for the building located at 8 Stretton 
Road to be used as an after-school club and holiday club for children aged 
between 4 and 14. The club would accommodate between approx. 14 and 18 
children and would have approx. 2 to 3 staff on duty at any given time. The after-
school club would operate between approx. 3pm and 6pm Mondays to Fridays and 
in the school holidays it would operate as a holiday club between the times of 
8:15am and 6:15pm Mondays to Fridays. Activities taking place at the after-school 
club would involve creative learning in the form of art but could include cooking and 
other activities including music (as these would all fall within the remit of creative 
learning). 
 
The building in question is a two-storey former coach house and is set within very 
close proximity to no.190 Psalter Lane (a neighbouring residential dwelling). The 
proposal does raise strong concerns in relation to detrimental impact and harm 
being caused to the occupants of no.190 Psalter Lane. Officers consider that the 
harm would be as a result of noise and general disturbance created by children, 
staff and parents as they drop-off and collect children and /or use the building and 
its yard area.  
 
The building would be used by members of the public but would not be suitable for 
use by many disabled users owing to the stepped access points and the restricted 
width of entrance doors. 
 
Although many objectors have raised concerns about increased traffic and highway 
safety issues, officers consider it could not be demonstrated that the proposal 
would lead to an unacceptable impact on highway safety.  
 
The proposal would undoubtedly provide a very useful service, however, in view of 
the circumstances of the site and the building constraints, officers consider that this 
would not be the right location for the use being proposed, and the benefits of the 
use do not outweigh the harm identified.  Therefore, it is recommended that 
planning permission be refused. 
 
 

Page 80



 
 
Case Number 

 
21/02304/FUL (Formerly PP-09841477) 
 

Application Type Full Planning Application 
 

Proposal Erection of single-storey side/rear extension to 
dwellinghouse 
 

Location 56 Huntingdon Crescent 
Sheffield 
S11 8AX 
 

Date Received 18/05/2021 
 

Team South 
 

Applicant/Agent Fenton Interiors 
 

Recommendation Grant Conditionally 
 

 
  
Time limit for Commencement of Development 
 
 1. The development shall be begun not later than the expiration of three years 

from the date of this decision. 
  
 Reason:  In order to comply with the requirements of the Town and Country 

Planning Act. 
 
Approved/Refused Plan(s) 
 
 2. The development must be carried out in complete accordance with the 

following approved documents:  
  
 Drg No.001, published on 18.05.2021 
 Drg No.002, published on 18.05.2021 
 Drg No.003, published on 18.05.2021 
  
 Reason: In order to define the permission. 
  
Pre Commencement Condition(s) – (‘true conditions precedent’ – see notes 
for definition) 
 
Other Pre-Commencement, Pre-Occupancy and other Stage of Development 
Condition(s) 
 
 3. The proposed facing materials of the extension shall match the facing 

materials of the existing building (brickwork) as shown on the approved 

Page 81

Agenda Item 7c



plans.  
  
 Reason:  In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality. 
 
Other Compliance Conditions 
 
     
 
Attention is Drawn to the Following Directives: 
 
 
1. The Local Planning Authority has dealt with the planning application in a 

positive and proactive manner in accordance with the requirements of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. The Local Planning Authority 
considered that it wasn't necessary to have detailed discussions in this 
case. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 82



Site Location 
 

 
© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 10018816 

Page 83



LOCATION AND PROPOSAL 
 
The property is a two-storey, red brick (with some render), detached dwelling 
located on Huntingdon Crescent, in close proximity to the junction with Sharrow 
Lane. The property has a rear garden containing a shed and is bounded by 
fencing. To the front is some soft landscaping as well as a paved driveway for one 
parked vehicle.  A gap of approximately 1.8m exists between the house and an 
adjacent, neighbouring garage located on the boundary. The site is in a Housing 
Area. The surrounding area is predominantly residential in character. 
 
Planning permission is sought for the erection of a single storey side/rear wrap 
around L-shaped extension. It has a 3 m deep rear projection with a pitched roof 
(3.5m ridge height, 2.4m eaves high) with a new front and rear facing window, rear 
bi-bolding doors opening onto the rear garden and two rooflights on the pitched 
roof. The side extension reduces the gap to the boundary to approximately 800mm 
and would sit flush with the front wall of the dwelling. 
 
PLANNING HISTORY  
 
None 
 
REPRESENTATIONS  
 
Immediate neighbours were notified, no representations were received. 
 
PLANNING ASSESSMENT  
 
Policy Context  
 
The site is identified on the Unitary Development Plan Proposals Map as being 
within a Housing Area. This assessment takes account of Policies BE5 and H14 
from the Sheffield Unitary Development Plan (UDP) and the provisions of Policy 
CS74 of the Core Strategy regarding design principles. The Supplementary 
Planning Guidance (SPG) on Designing House Extensions is also relevant to the 
determination of this application.  
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 130) states that 
developments need to contribute towards creating visually attractive, distinctive 
places to live, work and visit, whilst also being sympathetic to local character. 
Innovation should not be prevented but developments should add to the quality of 
an area whilst providing a high standard of amenity for existing and future users. 
This assessment will have due regard to this overarching principle. 
 
It is considered that the development plan policies being relied upon in making this 
recommendation remain in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and can be offered substantial weight. 
 
Design  
 
Guidelines 1 to 3 of the Supplementary Planning Guidance on Designing House 

Page 84



Extensions state that development must be compatible with the character and built 
form of the area; development should not detract from the host dwelling or from the 
general appearance of the street or locality; and extensions should be built of 
matching materials and features.  
 
The proposed side/rear extension would extend to the rear and side of the main 
dwellinghouse in the form of an L-shaped wrap around extension with a pitched 
roof design. The extension would measure approximately 3.0m in depth, extending 
the full width of the main dwellinghouse and have a height of 2.4m from ground to 
eaves level, and 3.5m from ground to ridge height. The new openings to the front 
and rear elevation would be appropriately designed, sized and placed. It would be 
subordinate to the main dwellinghouse and compatible with the character and built 
form of the area.   
 
The side extension would be visible from the street scene but it would not detract 
from the host dwelling or from the general appearance of the street or locality as it 
would be single storey with a pitched roof, in-line with the existing front building line 
and containing an appropriately designed window.  
 
Facing and roof materials would match those of the existing dwellinghouse.  
 
The proposal is considered to be acceptable in design terms and in accordance 
with the policies set down above. 
 
Impact on Neighbours  
 
Guidelines 4 to 6 of the Supplementary Planning Guidance on Designing House 
Extensions state that development should not lead to an overdevelopment of 
house plots or leave little garden space; they should ensure that minimum levels of 
privacy are maintained; and not lead to unreasonable over-shadowing or 
overdominance of neighbouring dwellings.  
 
The dwelling would retain ample amenity space following construction of the 
proposed wrap around extension and does not constitute an overdevelopment of 
the plot.  
 
The extension would project 3 metres beyond the rear elevation of the application 
site as well as the closest neighbouring property of No. 54 which is in line with 
Guideline 5 which states a single storey rear extension built adjacent to another 
dwelling may not extend more than 3 metres beyond that other dwelling.  
 
There would be no side-facing windows to the extension nor would any side facing 
windows of neighbouring properties be impacted.  
 
No.307 Sharrow Lane’s rear facing habitable windows would not be detrimentally 
impacted by the proposed works as the works are ground floor level only and partly 
obscured from view due to the fencing and outbuildings on or close to the side 
boundary.  
 
The development therefore protects and maintains minimum levels of privacy and 

Page 85



there would be no unreasonable overshadowing or over-dominance of 
neighbouring dwellings and no serious reductions in the light and outlook of the 
dwelling to be extended. 
 
It is considered that the proposal does not raise any amenity issues and complies 
with the relevant UDP policies and SPG guidance on Designing House Extensions. 
 
Highways  
 
Guideline 8 of the Supplementary Planning Guidance states that developments 
should not lead to highway safety issues and should provide adequate parking 
arrangements.  
The proposed extension does not propose any increase in bedroom provision. An 
existing off-street parking area to the front of the site will be retained, the 
development would not adversely affect highway safety. 
 
CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION  
 
It is considered that the proposed wrap around single storey rear/side extension is 
well designed, in scale and character with the host dwelling and the wider 
streetscene and it will not lead to adverse impacts on adjoining properties. As such 
it is considered that the proposed development accords with UDP Policies H14 and 
BE5, as well as Policy CS74 of the Core Strategy; Paragraph 130 of the most 
recently updated NPPF, and the Council’s SPG on Designing House Extensions.  
 
It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to the proposed 
conditions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 86



 
 

 
Report of:   Director of City Growth Department 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Date:    7 September 2021   
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Subject:   RECORD OF PLANNING APPEALS   
                                           SUBMISSIONS & DECISIONS 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Author of Report:  Abby Hartley  
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary:  
 
List of all newly submitted planning appeals and decisions received, together 
with a brief summary of the Inspector’s reason for the decision 
 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Reasons for Recommendations   
   
 
Recommendations: 
 
To Note 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Background Papers: 
 

 
Category of Report: OPEN 
 
 
 

   

SHEFFIELD CITY COUNCIL 
Planning & Highways 

Committee 

Page 87

Agenda Item 8



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES       
       REPORT TO PLANNING & 
       HIGHWAYS COMMITTEE 
       7 September 2021 
 
 
1.0  RECORD OF PLANNING APPEALS SUBMISSIONS AND 
 DECISIONS   

 

This report provides a schedule of all newly submitted planning appeals and 
decisions received, together with a brief summary of the Secretary of State’s 
reasons for the decisions. 
 
 
2.0 NEW APPEALS RECEIVED 
 
Nothing to report. 
 
3.0 APPEALS DECISIONS – DISMISSED 
 

(i) To report that an appeal against the delegated decision of the Council to 
refuse planning permission for the erection first floor side extension over 
attached garage and erection of two-storey front extension to dwellinghouse 
at 37 Helliwell Lane, Sheffield, S36 2NH (Case No: 21/00551/FUL) has been 
dismissed. 
 

Officer Comment:-  
 
The Inspector identified the key issue as the effect of the development on the 
character and appearance of the host property and the surrounding area. 
 
He noted the property was one of several link detached dwellings in a group 
that individually retained separate identities because of the substantial gap 
between them at first floor level. This he felt created a harmonious and orderly 
arrangement that was worthy of protecting. 
 
He considered the first-floor side extension would infill this gap and create a 
terracing effect and a cramped form of development conflicting with the 
established character. He therefore concluded it would be harmful to the 
character and appearance of the area in conflict with policies BE5, H14 (UDP) 
and CS74 (Core Strategy), the Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance, 
and paragraph 130 of the NPPF. 
 

(ii) To report that an appeal against the Committee decision of the Council to 
refuse planning permission for a hybrid application for change of use of 
existing buildings to be retained, altered vehicular access from Loxley Road 
with secondary public transport access from Rowell Lane and associated 
works with outline approval (with all other matters reserved) for demolition of 
existing buildings and structures, provision of a residential led mixed-use 
development that will deliver up to 300 dwellings, reinstatement works, site 

Page 88



remediation, green infrastructure, landscaping and associated infrastructure at 
Hepworth Properties Ltd, East Works, Storrs Bridge Lane, Sheffield, S6 6SX 
(Case No: 20/01301/OUT) has been dismissed. 
 

Officer Comment:-  
 
A Public Inquiry was held earlier in the year at which Council planning and 
ecology officers gave evidence in support of the refusal of planning 
permission. They presented a strong case against the development, along 
with partners at CPRE, the Friends of Loxley Valley and the South Yorkshire 
Bat Group.  
 
The Inspector cited the main issues as: 

- whether the Council can demonstrate a 5-year housing land supply;  
- whether the proposal would constitute inappropriate development for 

the purposes of Section 13 of the Framework;  
- its effect on the openness of the Green Belt and the purposes of 

including land in the Green Belt;  
- its effect on the character and appearance of the site and the 

surrounding area;  
- its effect on the ecology and biodiversity of the surrounding area;  
- its accessibility by means other than the car;  
- its effect on the risk from flooding; and,  
- if it is inappropriate development, whether the harm by reason of 

inappropriateness and any other harm is clearly outweighed by other 
considerations so as to amount to the very special circumstances 
necessary to justify the development. 

 
On the first issue the Inspector concluded that the Council could not 
demonstrate a 5-year housing land supply (indeed your officers have since 
confirmed a 4-year supply). 
 
On the second, third and fourth issues he concluded that the siting and 
arrangement of the proposed buildings, together with the resulting increase in 
activity, parking, lighting and paraphernalia associated with the development 
would cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt such that it 
would constitute inappropriate development in the Green Belt. He also 
concluded that it would have an adverse impact on the character and 
appearance of the site due to the urbanising effect of the proposed 
development and increased levels of activity. 
 
On the fifth issue he concluded that insufficient evidence was presented by 
the developer to show that the proposals would not result in unacceptable 
harm to the ecology and biodiversity of the site and its surroundings.  
 
On the sixth issue he agreed with the Council that the site is not in a 
sustainable location, being remote from facilities and services in the bottom of 
a steeply sided river valley with limited accessibility. He concluded that it was 
unlikely that future residents of the proposed development would walk or cycle 
to such services and that access by means other than the private car was 

Page 89



highly unlikely. 
 
On flooding he concluded that the development would pass the sequential 
and exception tests in the NPPF and whilst  the proposal would result in an 
increased risk of flooding it would be capable of being mitigated to prevent the 
risk from being unacceptable. 
 
In conclusion he stated that, in the absence of the Council being able to 
demonstrate a 5-year supply of deliverable housing sites, the policies which 
are most important for determining the application are considered out of date, 
as specified in footnote 8 of the NPPF. In such circumstances, the NPPF 
indicates that permission should be granted unless the application of policies 
in the Framework that protect areas or assets of particular importance 
(including the Green Belt) provides a clear reason for refusing the proposed 
development.  
 
In this case, the conflict that the Inspector found with Green Belt policies in 
the NPPF provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed. He 
found that the proposed development would fail to accord with the 
development plan and policies in the NPPF as a whole. As such, he 
concluded that it would not represent sustainable development and that the 
appeal should be dismissed. 
 

 
4.0 APPEALS DECISIONS – ALLOWED 
 
Nothing to report. 
 
5.0   CIL APPEALS DECISIONS  
 
Nothing to report. 
 
6.0   NEW ENFORCEMENT APPEALS  
 

(i) An appeal has been submitted to the Secretary of State against the 
Enforcement Notice served in respect of the breach of planning control as 
alleged in the notice which is the unauthorised execution of operational 
development, and the failure to carry of the requirements of condition 4 of 
planning permission reference 19/01513/FUL, at The Old Mayfield School, 
David Lane, Sheffield, S10 4PH (Planning Inspectorate Ref: 
APP/J4423/C/21/3279059). 
 

 
7.0   ENFORCEMENT APPEALS DISMISSED 
 
Nothing to report 
 
8.0   ENFORCEMENT APPEALS ALLOWED 
 
Nothing to report. 

Page 90



 
9.0  RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Michael Johnson 
Head of Planning                          7 September 2021  

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 92


	Agenda
	4 Declarations of Interest
	5 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	7 Applications Under Various Acts/Regulations
	7a Application No. 21/00234/FUL - Land At Junction With Herries Road, Herries Road, South And Penistone Road North, Sheffield, S6 1QE
	7b Application No. 21/00418/FUL - Very Much So Productions, 8 Stretton Road, Sheffield, S11 8UQ
	7c Application No. 21/02304/FUL - 56 Huntingdon Crescent, Sheffield, S11 8AX
	8 Record of Planning Appeal Submissions and Decisions

